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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2023.
Financial Results

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2023 was HK$46,884,000 (2022: HK$38,379,000), an increase of
HK$8,505,000 or 22% compared to the year before. The profit for
the year amounted to HK$264,999,000 (2022: loss for the year of
HK$43,701,000). The turnaround of the financial performance of the
Group were primarily attributable to:

1. a fair value gain of investment properties of HK$259,453,000,
which was mainly attributable to the fair value gain of investment
properties held by the acquired subsidiary in current year as
compared with a fair value loss of the investment properties of
HK$27,457,000 in last year; and

2. a reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables, loan
and interest receivables of HK$1,445,000 in current year as
compared with an impairment losses of HK$21,184,000 in last
year. The impairment losses in last year is mainly caused by the
default of a senior note issued by an independent former listed
company in Hong Kong, of which the Group has subscribed for
investment purpose in 2018.

Earnings per share amounted to HK21.36 cents (2022: loss per share

of HK3.52 cents), while the net asset value per share was HK$1.47 as
at 31st December, 2023 (2022: HK$1.25).

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31st December, 2023 (2022: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“2024
AGM”)

The 2024 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 22nd May,
2024. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 17th May, 2024 to Wednesday, 22nd May, 2024 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited of 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 16th May, 2024.

Management Discussion and Analysis
Business Review

The Group’s core businesses comprise property investment, property
leasing and estate management in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group’s commercial
properties situated at Harbour Crystal Centre recorded an average
occupancy level of approximately 99% and the performance of rental
income was satisfactory. The recovery of post-COVID in retail sector
starting in 2023 helped to drive visitors to spend in the district.

The recent acquisition of a shopping arcade, Concord Square is
currently under refurbishment and it is expected to operate in late-
2024.

In July 2023, the Group disposed all the office spaces in Billion
Centre and the strata residential apartments. The disposed properties
recorded 100% average occupancy rate during the six months period
held by the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Financial Review
Group Assets and Charges

The total assets of the Group have increased from HK$1,741,114,000
last year to HK$2,603,968,000 in this year. The net assets
of the Group have increased from HK$1,554,105,000 to
HK$1,822,751,000. At 31st December, 2023, carrying value of
investment properties of the Group of HK$1,270,000,000 in Hong
Kong (2022: HK$ Nil) were pledged as security for other borrowing
granted to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The
Group has no bank loan, but will undergo a discussion with the
bank for the renewal of banking facilities and the bank has agreed to
provide banking facilities if necessary.

Group Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The total liabilities of the Group have increased from HK$187,009,000
as at 31st December, 2022 to HK$781,217,000 as at 31st December,
2023. The Group had cash and bank balances of HK$130,495,000 as
at 31st December, 2023 (2022: HK$147,668,000) which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The ratio of total liabilities to total
assets was approximately 30% (2022: 11%). As at 31st December,
2023, the Group had other borrowing of HK$600,000,000 (2022: Nil)
included in non-current liabilities but no bank loans (2022: Nil) and the
total equity was HK$1,822,751,000 (2022: HK$1,554,105,000). The
gearing ratio (net debt over total equity) of the Group was 26% (2022:
negative of 10%).

The Group’s outstanding borrowing is interest-bearing at floating
rates, mature between two to five years and is denominated in Hong
Kong dollars which will be repaid in the same currency.

To maintain flexible and sufficient cashflow, the Group intends to
obtain proper bank and other borrowings with reasonable pricing
terms. The management continuously monitors the gearing ratio and
raises new external borrowings when necessary.

For the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group had no material
exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and no related hedges.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Material Lending Transaction

The Group focuses on property investment, property leasing and
estate management as its principal business, and a limited number of
transactions may be carried out by the Group as part of its treasury
activities with the intention to effectively utilise its available financial
resources on hand from time to time, including (i) subscription of loan
notes for investment purpose; and (ii) grant of loans to borrowers,
both of which contributed to the loan interest income of the
Group. Taking advantage of its cash position and after considering
the working capital needs, available business and investment
opportunities, a comparison between the fixed deposit interest rate at
the material time and the expected rate of return of alternative use of
such cash resources, the Group will allocate its resources accordingly
with the intention to enhance the returns of its shareholders, including
subscribing loan notes as well as providing short term loans.

Loan notes, being investment products, are normally issued by the
issuer to multiple subscribers, and the Group subscribes such loan
notes for investment purpose which are generally available for trading
in the financial market. By contrast, short-term loans which are
granted by the Group to borrowers are not investment products, nor
they are available for trade. The short-term loans are structured to
allow the Group to demand repayment from the borrower at any time.
Therefore, while such loans bring in interest income for the Group,
it provides certain level of liquidity flexibility to the Group to improve
and enhance its financial position quickly, and can use its resources
to fund its business activities when favourable opportunities arise.
During the year, the Group did not grant any loans to borrowers.

The Group will ensure that it has sufficient working capital for its
business operations after the allocation of its resources as above
mentioned.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Material Acquisition and Disposals

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group entered into
three sale and purchase agreements to acquire a property in Hong
Kong and to dispose of its non-core properties in PRC and Hong
Kong. Further details are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Significant Investments

The Group did not have any significant investment which accounted
for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31st December,
2028.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group is not aware of any material contingent liabilities as at 31st
December, 2023.

Event after the Reporting Date
There are no important events affecting the Group which have

occurred after the end of the reporting financial year ended 31st
December, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Financial/Operational Key Performance Indicator
Key Performance Indicator (“KPI”)

For the year of 2023, the Group set the following operational KPI to
maintain high competitiveness:

(1) For the investment properties managed by the Group, our aim is
to maintain the same as last year in the total rental income.

Having reviewed the annual performance, this KPI has been achieved
due to the recovery of social activities after COVID-19 and the rental
receivable reached security level. The Group will keep updating its
operational KPIs and leasing strategy to adapt to market changes.
Future Likely Development

Objectives for 2024 are as follows:

(1) We will review our management system and cost structure so as
to improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

(2)  We will consider gearing up our projects in a responsible manner
in order to increase our return on equity.

(8)  We will focus efforts to complete refurbishments on Concord
Square and commence leasing by year end.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Business Outlook

While Hong Kong’s travel restrictions have been fully lifted, we still
expect significant headwinds in the retail sector due to reduced
consumption from visitors as well as from locals. The fall in visitor
arrivals compared to before the pandemic is a major concern,
especially for travellers from countries other than China. Another
concern is the large increase in outbound travel for Hong Kong
residents, which has resulted in reduced spending domestically.

On a more positive note, we expect to see a significant increase
in large-scale public events and conferences to Hong Kong, which
should help the footfall of the Group’s retail space in Harbour Crystal
Centre (portion) due to the property’s nearby transport links.

The completion of refurbishments to Concord Square by year end
should result in new rental lease signings later this year. A mild uplift
to the Group’s total rental revenue is expected this year, and a
significant rise in the Group’s revenue is expected in 2025.

As before, the key risks are still the uncertainty of the recovery in the
Chinese economy as well as the likelihood of a long-awaited fall in
interest rates. Nonetheless, we believe Concord Square, which caters
largely to the local community in Tsuen Wan, should perform well
when it re-opens for business.

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
year, to the shareholders of the Company for their understanding and
support, and to the customers for their trust.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March, 2024
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FEYVESTH PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
R-CE—=F+—_H=+—H as at 31st December; 2023
HEEEE
(FHR)
Total gross Ef FrisES L HRER
b B Hh ER SR S A& floor area Car parking Percentage Lease
Location Lot No. Use (sq. ft.) spaces owned expiry
BEME
Investment properties
B
Hong Kong
AL (E) NEAME  BE 138,663 - 80 2053
JUBE S /D I BR A IN3E L £ B 10057 106005 8,881 - 40 2053*
Harbour Crystal Centre (portion) KIL 10600 Commercial 30 100 2053*
100 Granville Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon
BFES ZEETH B [SES 163,538 91 100 2049¢
RS 5elressk £5.369%
Concord Square, TWTL 369 Commercial

88 Chuen Lung Street,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories

# ZEWMEAFHBOLARE

# These properties are held on medium lease.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Code

In light of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) under
Appendix 14 (restructured as Appendix C1 since 31st December,
2023) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has
reviewed the corporate governance practices of the Company with
the adoption of the various enhanced procedures which are detailed
in this report. The Company has applied the principles of, and
complied with, the applicable code provisions set out in the section
headed “Part 2 — Principles of good corporate governance, code
provisions and recommended best practices” of the CG Code during
the year ended 31st December, 2023, except for certain deviations
as specified with considered reasons for such deviations as explained
below. The Board will review the current practices at least annually,
and make appropriate changes if considered necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six directors
(“Directors”) in total, with four Executive Directors and two
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out
as follows:

Executive Directors:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman)
Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

INEDs:

Li Chak Hung
Lisa Yang Lai Sum
Choi Kin Man (passed away on 26th January, 2024)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 44 to 47. There are no family or other
material relationships among members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process

During the year, the INEDs provided the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Group”) with their wide range of skills, expertise and
varied backgrounds and qualifications. Their active participation in the
Board and committee meetings brought independent, constructive
and informed judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
policies, performance and management process, taking into account
the interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

After the financial year end and on 26th January, 2024, Mr. Choi
Kin Man (“Mr. Choi”), an INED of the Company, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee, passed away. Subsequent to the passing
away of Mr. Choi, the Company has two INEDs with the number of
INEDs falling below the minimum number of three and does not meet
the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing
Rules.

Throughout the year, the Company has had three INEDs representing
not less than one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Board has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his/
her independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent
under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process (continued)

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, six Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31st
December, 2023 are set out below:

HE BTERZREY

Number of meetings attended/held

FMZRE ERZERE BRXE
EE® Remuneration Audit General
EEpe Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Meetings
BiTEE: Executive Directors:
ERE(EE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman) 6/6 2/2
TRB (7T HAER) Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive) 6/6 2/2
Bt Edwin Lo King Yau 5/6 2/2
MigE Tao Tsan Sang 6/6 2/2
BUFRTES: INEDs:
R Li Chak Hung 6/6 1/ 2/2 2/2
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum 6/6 11 2/2 2/2
BRER(VR-_Z_MNF Choi Kin Man (passed away on 6/6 1/1 2/2 2/2
— A=+ HEkt) 26th January, 2024)

KREEGRATAEBEZLEETIERRAEEER
REg - 2F2ERE 2FRPHESE  EFZ
EREFZREIHERREERZEEZER) &
REHRRS - bEEE  AREMERRER
HBEEE ERGCBATBREZRTITRE
BAB THATZES(HAERTEEME
HEET, EE -BEXTGRAQAETERE 2R
EEEDRIEYAEmINE A FEREFSF
gt Ko SERT - PARE (R ELES BE B3R 1T AR B KR AR 1
_ﬂ °

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment
or re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive management under the instruction/supervision of
the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of
reference. The respective functions of the Board and management of
the Company have been formalised and set out in writing and will be
reviewed and updated by the Board from time to time to ensure that
they are consistent with the existing rules and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to all
Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The
articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) also
stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director
shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not be counted
in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or arrangement
in which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials and has access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior management.
Directors will be continuously updated on the major developments
of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance
practices. In addition, as part of the mechanism to encourage
independent views and input from Directors, a written procedure has
been established which is reviewed annually to enable the Directors,
in discharge of their duties, to seek external independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne
by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’
attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the
management of the Company, during the year ended 31st December,

BFEWT : 2023, Directors participated in the activities including the following:
BHGHSERZRID
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HEESEERTAMN
BRI REERE B
Attending trainings/
FiEE R EH briefings/seminars/
Reading conference relevant to
EElE Name of Directors Regulatory Updates the Directors’ duties
BOEE: Executive Directors:
TRE(ER) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman) v/ v/
B (1THER) Lee Shu Yin (Chief Executive) v v
B Edwin Lo King Yau v v
MRE Tao Tsan Sang v v
BIUFRTES INEDs:
i Li Chak Hung v v
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum v/ v/
B2RER(N-_Z-MF Choi Kin Man (passed away on v v
— A=+ AE) 26th January, 2024)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

The Board (continued)
Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the objectives and principles regarding board diversity for the purpose
of achieving the Company'’s strategic objectives of balanced diversity
at the Board as far as practicable. Board appointments will be based
on merit and candidates will be considered against measurable
objectives, taking into account the Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable
objective of the Company in assessing the implementation of the
diversity policy. The Board currently has one female Director out of
six Directors, achieving the gender diversity of the Board at 16.7%.
The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing the proportion
of female members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The six Directors are from diverse and complementary backgrounds,
including property development/management, corporate finance,
investment and management, legal, accounting and finance
management. The valuable experience and expertise they bring to our
business are critical for the long-term growth of the Group.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy has been properly
implemented and is effective.

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations are used
when recruiting and selecting senior management and general staff.
As of 31st December, 2023, a 55% : 45% male : female gender ratio,
being a measurable objective for gender diversity, has been achieved
in the workforce (including senior management). Further information
about the composition of the Group’s workforce can be found in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023 separately
released on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei,
being the Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the
leadership of the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner;
(ii) all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings; and (iii) the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear
information. The functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Lee
Shu Yin, the Chief Executive of the Company, who is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Their
responsibilities are clearly segregated and have been set out in writing
and approved by the Board.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to
be observed by a director pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. In addition, this induction package includes materials
briefly describing the operations and business of the Company,
the latest published financial reports of the Company and the
documentation for the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Board. Directors will be continuously updated on any major
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeeping of good corporate
governance practices.



BEEEENRER®E)

BB RTETZZIEH T _=F— H
—HRES  YEEEEH  ARRABEEA
WZE@%Y&EHE@E%&WZ&E%E&
RIE - HEHEEREREE -

EEZRZELAENEEESH  RIEXEFE
TIREZT |2 EBRAESMENNZ LIRS
Sy EEGHEREZBENMBINEET - g
ERETHER  BRETRREESHRE - A
BUMMAR - REANER - ARMIFIERT B
ARHERBITEERENGE N X/ARALZ
RAE - MRAMKRBMERIELBRER -

RBABERMA RAABGERRAFKE
(IRRBEEFRGDLE =02 ERETZES
(HMMABAIF=2FH - ARBAETDIR=
DZ—ZBEB)ERERE - I EARER
BRERINEEEENEMEEEELECE
ENEHEETERRBFAS AL - BERAE
BEE - BREFREIEB=-FHEREI K-

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors (continued)

The appointment of all INEDs has been renewed from 1st January,
2023 with no designated length of service, subject to the relevant
provisions of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws,
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but are
eligible for re-election.

In considering the appointment or re-appointment of Directors, in
addition to the diversity criteria set out in the paragraphs headed
“Diversity” under “The Board” above, the Board, with the assistance
and recommendation from the Nomination Committee, will also
take into account a number of factors, including but not limited to
the structure, size and composition of the Board, the candidates’
qualifications and their ability to devote sufficient time as and when
required to discharge their responsibilities as a director and to make
positive contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy,
policies and performance.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
next following AGM, and shall then be eligible for re-election. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by an INED and comprises all
INEDs. During the year, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including Mr. Li Chak Hung (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum.
Subsequent to the passing away of the INED, Mr. Choi on 26th
January, 2024, the Nomination Committee currently consists of two
members, including Mr. Li Chak Hung (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The Nomination Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and
has access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the
nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. The
objectives of the Nomination Policy are to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business, and
that the Directors can devote sufficient time and make contributions
to the Company that are commensurate with their role and board
responsibilities. A balanced composition of executive directors
and INEDs shall be included in the Board so that there is a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, a formal, considered and transparent
procedure is in place for selection, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if
considered necessary), including periodical review of such plans.
The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional Director or
fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the
recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity
of the Board (including gender diversity) as well as the effective
carrying out of the responsibilities of the Board. By adopting such
criteria, it facilitates the Company to develop a pipeline of candidates
to the Board to achieve gender diversity. Further details of the
selection criteria and the procedure are set out in the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2023, no Nomination Committee meeting was
held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by way of
circulation. In 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee performed the works as summarised below:

—
=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2023 AGM and 2024 AGM;

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the qualifications, time commitments,

contribution and independence of each INED; and

(i) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy.
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Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, including
Mr. Choi Kin Man (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li
Chak Hung and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs during
the year. Subsequent to the passing away of the INED, Mr. Choi on
26th January, 2024, the Remuneration Committee currently consists
of two members, including Mr. Li Chak Hung and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai
Sum, all being the INEDs. The Remuneration Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of
the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above deviation are summarised
as below:

()  the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(i) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control
their compensation; and

(i) there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus
Shareholders will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such
compensation packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2023 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 20283. In 2023 and up to the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised
below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
existing policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(i) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive
Directors and INEDs for the year ended 31st December, 2022;

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2022 and the salary for the
year 2023 of the CE; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
Directors’ fee for the year 2023.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for
their additional responsibilities and services will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements whereas detailed changes in
the emoluments of certain Directors during the interim period and up
to the date of the Interim Report were also disclosed in the Interim
Report of the Company dated 17th August, 2023. The remuneration
payable to the senior management of the Company by band are set
out in note 15 in the consolidated financial statements. Details of the
remuneration policy of the Group are also set out in the “Employee”
section contained in the Directors’ Report on page 54.
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Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including Mr. Li
Chak Hung (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man
and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs during the year.
Subsequent to the passing away of the INED, Mr. Choi on 26th
January, 2024, the Audit Committee currently consists of two INEDs,
namely, Mr. Li Chak Hung (Chairman of the Audit Committee) and
Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. To retain independence and objectivity, the
Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are included in
its terms of reference, which has been updated in March 2024 and are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code,
but with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(i) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

(i) ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the listed
company.
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Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(i) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

(i)  INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only
possesses the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure
under the code provision) whether management has performed
its duty to have effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee is not equipped to ensure that the
same is in place as this would involve day-to-day supervision and
the employment of permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not
in a position either to ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit
Committee is not in a position to ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced but it can check whether it is adequately
resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2023 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee

also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2023. In 2023

and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the

works as summarised below:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by
the external auditor in respect of the interim results review for
the six months ended 30th June, 2023 (“2023 Interim Review”)
and the final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2023
(2023 Final Audit”) of the Group;

reviewed the audit final reports and audit completion reports
from the external auditor and the management’s response in
relation to the final audit for the year ended 31st December,
2022, 2023 Interim Review and 2023 Final Audit;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2022, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2023 and for the year ended
31st December, 2023 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;

reviewed the internal audit plan and the internal audit reports
prepared by the Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA
Function”);

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
updated reports on the substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as those
relating to Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
performance and reporting, and their training programmes and
budget;

reviewed the provision of non-assurance services from the
external auditor;
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Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the new
Pre-approval Policy for Independent Auditor’s Non-Assurance
Services;

(viii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review/
approval the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
revised Whistle Blower Policy, Procedures for the Identification
and Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Related Party
Transaction Policies and Procedures, Policy on the Disclosure of
Inside Information, Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and
Internal Control Procedures and Dividend Policy; and

(ix) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently consists of four members,
including Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive
Committee), Lee Shu Yin, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang.
The Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities of the Group as are vested in
the Board, save for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s
decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference
of the Executive Committee. The major roles and functions of the
Executive Committee are included in its terms of reference, which has
been updated in March 2024.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(i) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.
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Company Secretary

Ms. Cynthia Chen Si Ying is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Chen is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute
and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. During the year,
Ms. Chen undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge.

Codes for Securities Transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 (restructured as Appendix C3 since 31st December,
2023) of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered likely to be in possession
of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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Accountability and Audit
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the Accounts Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2023, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe that
they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 62.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. In 2023 and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as
those relating to ESG performance and reporting, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of the Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, which have been considered effective and adequate.

The Company’s principal subsidiaries are managed under
independent systems of risk management and internal controls.
These subsidiaries have provided appropriate assurance to the
Company on their compliance with the CG Code regarding risk
management and internal control systems in general to the Company.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements and under the
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section contained in Directors’
Report on pages 38 to 39.

Internal Audit

The Head of |A Function reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee. The |A Function generally carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The internal audit plan and internal audit reports were prepared by
the |A Function and issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for
review.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information (“Policy”) with respect to the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures to the Directors and
relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the
Group is to be disseminated to the public on an equal basis and
in timely manner. Directors and relevant officers in possession of
potential inside information and/or inside information are required
to take reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards are
in place to preserve strict confidentiality of inside information and
to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations to maintain
the information confidential. The Policy shall be updated and revised
as and when necessary in light of changes in circumstances and
changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements from
time to time.

Whistle Blower Policy

The Board has adopted the Whistle Blower Policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise concern, in
confidence and anonymity, if required and appropriate, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Group.
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Accountability and Audit (continued)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to Deloitte is set out as follows:

FHET
mEEERE S ZRE Services rendered for the Group HK$’000
ZERTS Audit services $1,223
IEZHRIE(RIEENP RS  BEREEZ Non-audit services (including review of interim

BEBGER - @tidRe - E5EHR - results, preparation of the unaudited pro forma
EEESBAREMBERE) financial information, accountant’s report,
statement of indebtedness, working capital
sufficiency statement and other professional
services) $1,655
FEE Total $2,878
PRR 26 Shareholders Engagement
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The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM to answer any questions from Shareholders.
The chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee or in their absence, another member
of the respective committees or failing that their respective duly
appointed delegate, are also available to answer questions at the
AGM. The chairman of any independent board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is
appointed, at least a member of the independent board committee)
should also be available to answer questions at any general meeting
of Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.
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Shareholders Engagement (continued)

During the year, the 2023 AGM and 2023 Extraordinary General
Meeting (“2023 EGM”) were held on 23rd May, 2023 and 30th June,
2023 respectively. The attendance records of the Directors at the
2023 AGM and the 2023 EGM are set out in the section headed “The
Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at
least 21 days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 days in
case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at
the commencement of the meeting. The chairman of the meeting
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”)
at a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the
Board at the Registered Office (the address which is disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of this annual report) in accordance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Articles of
Association where applicable. The Proposal shall be in the form of
a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and concisely set out the
Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the Company’s business
scope.

The Board has established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
which sets out the channels of communication with the Shareholders.
A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state
the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry. In
addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the share
registrar of the Company, for any questions about their shareholdings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Shareholders Engagement (continued)

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication and engagement
in place as detailed above and in the Shareholders Communication
Policy, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders Communication
Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. There was no change in the Articles of
Association during the year.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy which aims at providing
reasonable and sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst
maintaining a position of financial stability which allows the Company
to take advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that
may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis
and/or may declare interim dividends or special dividends. Proposal
or declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration
of the Company’s and the Group’s operating results, accumulated
and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment
requirements and future expansion plans as well as general economic
conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial
performance and position of the Company and the Group. In
addition, as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also
consider the dividends received from its subsidiaries and associates
as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent on the
dividends received from those subsidiaries and associates.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend
and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March, 2024
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year ended
31st December, 2023.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries and associates as
at 31st December, 2023 are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in Hong Kong. The breakdown by principal activities of
the Group’s revenue and the contribution to profit before taxation
for the year ended 31st December, 2023 is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Chairman’s
Statement (“CS”) on page 5. There are no important events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year.
Future development of the Company’s business is set out in the CS
on page 9. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the CS on
page 9.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises
that management has performed its duty to have effective risk
management and internal control systems necessary for monitoring
and controlling major risks arising from the Group’s business
activities, changing external risks and the regulatory environment, and
reports to the Board on the above.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Market
risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due to
movements in market factors and which can be further divided into
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 36(b) “Financial risk management
objectives and policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports
regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under review
are affected by the uncertainty of the property market. The supply and
demand of the properties, government interventions over the property
market price, house price indexes and interest rates change in Hong
Kong may induce a material adjustment on the Group’s business,
financial position and results.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply
with the laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
legislated by the local government for managing the properties.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on
the environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimising consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

For further information about the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the year, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (“ESG Reports”)
separately released on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the website of the Company in
the “ESG Reports” section under “Investor Relations”, the discussions
of which form part of this report.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer to the
website addresses set out in the “Corporate Information” on page 3 of
this Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to comply with laws and regulations that
govern our businesses. As the Company is incorporated in Hong
Kong, we are under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong. As a listed
company, we abide by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”).

The relevant boards of directors and committees may make
recommendations to the Group in relation to relevant codes and
practice guides in pursuing business integrity and the results are
reviewed regularly. A variety of training on regulations and compliance
matters are also provided internally or through professional
institutions.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Business Review (continued)
Compliance with Laws and Regulations (continued)

Our rental businesses are governed by the Landlord and Tenant
(Consolidation) Ordinance, Chapter 7 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
Our property management businesses are governed by the Building
Management Ordinance, Chapter 344 of the Laws of Hong Kong.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 63 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31st December, 2023 (2022: Nil).

Investment Properties

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties through
the acquisition of a subsidiary and additions totalling approximately
HK$1,008,056,000 and HK$10,157,000 respectively in value. The
Group revalued all of its investment properties as at the year end date.
The surplus arising on the revaluation amounted to HK$259,453,000
and has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2023 are set out on page 11.

Share Capital and Shares Issued

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Debentures
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.
Equity-linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the
end of the year.

Borrowings

The other borrowing which is repayable in more than two years
but not exceeding five years is classified as non-current liabilities.
Details of other borrowing is set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Directors

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Lee Shu Yin

Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Li Chak Hung
Lisa Yang Lai Sum
Choi Kin Man (passed away on 26th January, 2024)

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei,
Lee Shu Yin and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum shall retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”).

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards of
the Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this
report is kept at the Company’s registered office and available for
inspection by the shareholder of the Company (“Shareholders”) during
normal office hours.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Executive Directors

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 72, was appointed an Executive
Director of the Company in November 2016 and was the Chief
Executive of the Company during the period from December 2016 to
January 2018. Mr. Lee was appointed the Chairman of the Company
in January 2018. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Being an architect, he worked for IBM Australia before
becoming involved in property development in Malaysia and Hong
Kong more than thirty years ago. He has extensive experience in the
property field. Mr. Lee is the managing director and an executive
director of Tian An China Investments Company Limited, the holding
company of the Company.

Lee Shu Yin, aged 57, has been the Chief Executive and an
Executive Director of the Company since January 2018. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over
twenty years of experience in corporate finance, investment and
management. Mr. Lee served as Chief Investment Officer of Grand
River Properties Ltd. and as an executive of PGR Asian RE Fund
GP, Ltd., which managed a property-related investment account of
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An China Investments Company
Limited (“TACI”), the holding company of the Company. He is an
independent non-executive director of Altus Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (Stock Code: 8149). Mr. Lee was a Non-Executive Director
of TACI during the period from March 2011 to June 2017 and an
Executive Director of the same company from June 2017 to January
2018. He served various positions as a vice president and director
in the Asian Equities division of JP Morgan Securities Limited/Robert
Fleming Securities and as an executive director of Goldman Sachs
International in Hong Kong. He holds a Master’s Degree in Finance
from the London Business School, and Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor
of Science Degrees from Stanford University. Mr. Lee is a Chartered
Financial Analyst charterholder.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 63, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in November 2016. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree
in Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance Professional. He
had served various executive roles in several companies in Hong Kong
including as company secretary for public listed companies. Mr. Lo is
also an executive director of each of Allied Group Limited, the ultimate
holding company of the Company, and Tian An China Investments
Company Limited, the holding company of the Company.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 59, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in November 2016. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and is an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting, financial
management and China business field. Mr. Tao is an executive
director and the finance director of Tian An China Investments
Company Limited, the holding company of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Li Chak Hung, aged 59, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in March 2017. Mr. Li graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree of Business Administration. Mr. Li is a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He has 30
years’ experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and financial
management. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948)
and was an independent non-executive director of Summit Ascent
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102) from October 2018 to January
2024, Sandmartin International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 482)
from September 2016 to August 2021, DreamEast Group Limited
(Stock Code: 593) from October 2004 to December 2019 and Alibaba
Pictures Group Limited (Stock Code: 1060) from September 2004 to
June 2014, whereby all companies are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 57, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in March 2017. She graduated
from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s Degree in Law and
Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in Australia and England.
She is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant of ONC
Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-executive director of
each of Allied Group Limited, the ultimate holding company of the
Company, Tian An China Investments Company Limited, the holding
company of the Company, and China Medical & HealthCare Group
Limited, the fellow subsidiary of the Company.



TRBEFRLAT —T=FFRH

EFEREMEEABZBAER (&
BREEAR
W% RFERHLR  ARARATDRE

“E—FAMBEARE - REEIFAELIEE
BETEGREEERBLIRML - WEBERF
REBAGREFAFABAENERES - BIF
EARGHMAGNE RS - REP S
i AEME RGN SRMNER S ARG R
MEESE - R THEA - TFNEENEER
BB BIREREMLEEEIRTHRRE
TER=TFK%RH -

BEVIREAY

BREERRAFAS LERETCESHER
AEBEFTUAKERATR —FRNBARECEE
RREBRIN M Al T AR 2 REHIRBE A4 -

FRTES I

BB FMTES((BUFNTEEDZZ
EEEE:%:Eﬁ*ﬂ*EItiZ% C WEEEE

BRBABERAR 2 BRBIRRERNEMD
LﬁﬁiﬁﬂZ%ﬁm%ﬁEﬂz RIT - WRNEERBERE
£ -

47

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (continued)

Senior Management

Cynthia Chen Si Ying, aged 57, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. She joined the Company in April 2011. Ms. Chen holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration and a Master’s Degree
in Corporate Governance. She is a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of The Institute of Public Accountants, a fellow of The
Institute of Financial Accountants and a member of The Institute of
Certified Management Accountants. She has more than twenty years’
extensive experience in the company secretarial practice and has
more than thirty years’ experience in the management of large and
well-known enterprises.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Terms of Office for the Non-executive Directors

The appointment of all Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INEDs”) has been renewed from 1st January, 2023 with no
designated length of service, subject to the relevant provisions of
the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby the
Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but are eligible for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Directors’ Interests

As at 31st December, 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 (restructured as Appendix
C3 since 31st December, 2023) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao
Tsan Sang are directors of TACI which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property investment and property management; and

2.  Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is a director of Allied Group Limited
(“AGL”) which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly
engaged in the businesses of money lending, property
investment and property management.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship,
they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure that they will act
in the best interests of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole
at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of such
companies.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions”
in this report and the following transactions, namely (a) the 1A & MIS
Service Agreement (as defined below) entered into by the Company
and AGL; (b) the Service Agreement (as defined below) entered into
by the Company and TACI; (c) the sharing of management services
agreement entered into by the Company (as service provider) and
TACI (as recipient); and (d) a sub-tenancy agreement entered into by
AGL (as landlord) and the Company (as tenant), which are disclosed
in “Related Parties Transactions and Balances” in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, there were (i) no other contract of
significance between the Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; and (i) no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company or
any of their subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Management Contracts

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to
the sharing of administrative services and management services
(“Service Agreement”) and the sharing of internal audit services
and management information system services (“IA & MIS Service
Agreement”), no other contracts, relating to the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

The Company entered into the Service Agreement with TACI on 23rd
December, 2022 for a period of three years from 1st January, 2023 to
31st December, 2025.

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, being the Chairman and an Executive
Director of the Company, and the managing director and an executive
director of TACI, is deemed to be interested in the Service Agreement.
Messrs. Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang, being the Executive
Directors of the Company and the executive directors of TACI, are
deemed to be interested in the Service Agreement.

The Company entered into the IA & MIS Service Agreement with AGL
on 23rd December, 2022 for a period of three years from 1st January,
2023 to 31st December, 2025.

Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, being an Executive Director of the Company
and an executive director of AGL, is deemed to be interested in the IA
& MIS Service Agreement.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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FERBLEMA LT Z2ER Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests

BEERM R-ZET-_=F+-_A=+—H | To the best of Directors’ knowledge, as at 31st December, 2023,

|Z533616 M EFMEE 2 &M the following Shareholders had interests in the shares or underlying

BB 5 LA G
&l - EAAATIRM AR M EZR ZAXE M shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
T under Section 336 of the SFO:
BERAREMEKZZHE
Number of shares and underlying shares interested
BEAES EEES
(LESHAA (S2EE HERT
S58) ZHER) 30t
Personal Corporate #aEsl
Interests Interests Approximate%
(held as (interest of Higa =3t of the total
BREE beneficial controlled Other Total number of
Name of Shareholders owner)  corporation) Interests Interests issued shares
P4 - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
TACI (Bizz1)
(Note 1)
BERE - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
AGL =) (Be2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 930,376,898 - 930,376,898 74.98%
(Hizt4) (KriE2)

(Note 4) (Note 2)
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests (continued)

Notes:

Save

The interest was held by Autobest Holdings Limited (“Autobest”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Advance Growth Investments Limited (“Advance
Growth”). As Advance Growth is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI, TACI
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Autobest
was interested.

This represents the same interests of TACI in 930,376,898 shares.

AGL, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, indirectly owned approximately
56.94% of the total number of issued shares of TACI and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which TACI was interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust
controlled approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of
AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was interested
through TACI.

All interests stated above represent long positions.

as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2023, the Company

was not notified of any other persons having any interests or short

positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Connected Transactions

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company, TACI and
AGL dated 27th February, 2023:

(@)

on 27th February, 2023, Dan Form (China) Limited (“Dan Form”,
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as vendor,
and Advance Growth Investments Limited (“Advance Growth”, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI) as purchaser, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which, (i) Dan
Form agreed to sell and Advance Growth agreed to acquire the
entire issued share capital of Spring Victory Holdings Limited
(“Spring Victory”, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Dan
Form); and (i) Dan Form agreed to assign to Advance Growth
the sale loan which Spring Victory may hereafter become
indebted to Dan Form, at a consideration of HK$80,000,000
payable at completion (“Disposal I”); and

on 27th February, 2023, Simply Global Enterprises Limited
(“Simply Global”, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) as vendor, and AP Development Limited (“AP
Development”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL)
as purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which, (i) Simply Global agreed to sell and AP
Development agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Hero Bless Investments Limited (“Hero Bless”, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Simply Global) and Wisdom Giant Holdings
Limited (“Wisdom Giant”, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Simply Global); and (ii) Simply Global agreed to assign to AP
Development the sale loans which Hero Bless and Wisdom
Giant are indebted and may hereafter become indebted to
Simply Global, at a consideration of HK$250,000,000 payable

|u

at completion (“Disposal II”, together with Disposal I, the

“Disposals”).

With the completion of the Disposals, the Company can focus more

on and better allocate its resources to the retail segment of its

commercial property investment.
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Connected Transactions (continued)

As each of TACI and AGL is a substantial shareholder of the
Company, Advance Growth, being a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of TACI, and AP Development, being an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of AGL, are connected persons of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposals
constituted connected transactions for the Company.

As one of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing
Rules) in respect of Disposal Il, both on a stand-alone basis and when
aggregated with Disposal |, exceeds 25% but is below 75%, the
Disposals are subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The Disposals were completed on 3rd July, 2023.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the connected
transaction and continuing connected transaction.

Employees

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group employed 31 (2022: 34)
persons, all (2022: all) were employed in Hong Kong. The Group
maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration packages
and employees are also rewarded on performance related basis
including salary and bonus. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and
employees’ and senior management’s emoluments in the Group for
the year ended 31st December, 2023 are set out in notes 14 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the remuneration
policy of the Directors are set out in the “Remuneration Committee”
section contained in the Corporate Governance Report on page 24.

In addition to basic salaries, full-time employees in Hong Kong are
provided with medical insurance and mandatory provident fund
scheme.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s
largest and the five largest customers were approximately 18%
and 52% of the Group’s revenue respectively, and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and the five largest
suppliers were approximately 46% and 83% of the Group’s purchases
respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

Donations
The Group made charitable donations of HK$5,000 during the year.
Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 12 to 37.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this

report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Patrick Lee Seng Wei

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=ED

TO THE MEMBERS OF ASIASEC PROPERTIES LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asiasec
Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 167, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December, 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

EARERTEER@BERSERNZISE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

BB RENEGHERESBREZSZE  ARNREY
XHEHSAVMBRREEMNEBERN  UEAREER
REERERERHEH -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments and estimations
associated with determining the fair value.

PUGEMIERERMFIOFIHE  SEB 2R EME
BURBBZEEMEREEE  RZE_=F+=A8
=+—HB:HE A2,269,160,000/8 7T - REE T =4
+—A=+—HLEFE BEEEREEREVEZLAALE
HE 8~ Y25 5259,453,000/8 TE R EGA B R AR

7
o

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent commercial properties and carparks located
in Hong Kong carried at HK$2,269,160,000 as at
31st December, 2023. During the year ended 31st
December, 2023, a gain from change in fair value of the
Group’s investment properties of HK$259,453,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

EEECMAREMENZ2EBIYIAEREXETED
(TFH(hE ) ETTZ HERAR BEERE - AEKERS
REBBHEB 2ETEERKAIZHARE  B2FEH
Hamx - EREaR RERNEL cmEEVES

All of the Group’s investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuation performed
by an independent and qualified professional valuer (the
“Valuer”). The valuation depends on certain significant
assumptions and key inputs that involve management’s
judgments, including term vyield, revisionary yield and
market unit rent.

BABEBAEREMEZHEZREFERE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment

properties included:

o FHARHMERNZBEES - BB REEIE

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;

o HEERIFEEZHEBIENTE  METHIRA
EEMERAZERMEK - HEPAZ B8 Ea
REZH AR

° Understanding the Valuer’s valuation process and
methodology, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuation;

o HMAERTTERMEBMEL TZARBRZAEN &

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodology
and assumptions when compared with industry
norms; and

o RERMEMETSHAD  BEHLBRERBEEZ
ERETISEE - T EEEE R ERATRA £
RMABBZEE -

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuer by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to entity-
specific information and market data based on our
knowledge of the property markets.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Li Man Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
20th March, 2024
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IFEREX CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
P E = Ff = f=+—HIFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
—EZ= =2
2023 2022
s FHET FEIT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 5a 46,884 38,379
HaA Other income 6 13,358 12,728
Hib g8 Other loss 7 (1,026) (549)
HEMNRB AR 2 F ks Net gain on disposals of subsidiaries 8 6,702 =
e MEm Rent and rates (2,336) (1,381)
BFERE Building management fees (7,090) (6,959)
EEXAN(BIEEEMHE) Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) (12,308) (13,084)
e KB H Depreciation and amortisation (142) (198)
HIERRE Repairs and maintenance (4,060) (5,870)
HAihF Other expenses (9,232) (10,386)
A& KA Finance costs 10 (18,211) =
R AREMERSMIAEY Operating profit before change in fair
AREEZEHMEHREES value of investment properties and
BEEE 2 SR ERE financial instruments and reversal
ORE ) By A8 &5 of impairment losses (impairment
losses) under expected credit loss
model, net 12,539 12,680
REREMHEZ AR EBEEZES 2 Gain (loss) from change in fair value
Wz (E18) of investment properties 19 259,453 (27,457)

EHMEEBERL 2 FHERE
B ECRiE)

BRBRERAAEBEREZ
ERMEEZ AR BEFRD
BRI (&18)

PRSHE (S i) K40

RER N (E18)

FRAEF (BR)
AR

Reversal of impairment losses

(impairment losses) under

expected credit loss model, net 11 1,445 (21,184)
Net decrease in fair value of

financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (4,330) (8,325)
Profit (loss) before taxation 269,107 (44,286)
Income tax (expense) credit 12 (4,108) 585
Profit (loss) for the year 13 264,999 (43,701)

Al JEN
HK cents HK cents

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic 16 21.36 (3.52)




04 Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

FeREREM2ZEER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e —E——Ff+ - fH=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
—E=f —T—=
2023 2022
FETT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
REEH A (E18) Profit (loss) for the year 264,999 (48,701)
Hte2mmkz=(ER) : Other comprehensive income (expense):
BEETEEN D EE B Item that will not be reclassified subsequently
ZIEEF - to profit or loss:
BREMEENSEAREE Change in fair value of equity instrument
BIEZRATEZ AR EE at fair value through other
) comprehensive income 2,290 (3,060)
FE1% Al BEE T DX E R am Items that may be reclassified subsequently
ZIEH : to profit or loss:
RAFELEWBAFR Exchange reserve related to subsidiaries
B BEEERZ disposed during the year reclassified
TERZE to profit or loss 3,007 =
KEREAE Currency translation differences (1,650) (4,555)
1,357 (4,555)
NEZHMEEW=E(ER) - Other comprehensive income (expense)
BRI for the year, net of tax 3,647 (7,615)
rEE2EN(BR) @ Total comprehensive income (expense)

for the year 268,646 (51,316)
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ReEMEBERLE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
R-E—_=#F+—F=+—H at 31st December, 2023
—EZ= i ——
2023 2022
ih=s F#T FEIL
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ERDHEE Non-current assets
ME - W= REE Property, plant and equipment 18 430 1,071
EE Investment properties 19 2,269,160 1,297,022
R—EE A E 2w Interests in an associate 20 - -
FEWER Loan receivables 24 - 78,024
FRBRRANBEEEZ Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss 21 - 43,079
FEREMEEBREAR Equity instrument at fair value through

BEREZRATA other comprehensive income 22 31,890 29,600
(e Club memberships 4,261 4,261

2,305,741 1,453,057
e ) Current assets
T REHMERRIE - FER Trade and other receivables,

R RiEe prepayments and deposits 23 15,415 26,752
FE W E K Loan receivables 24 77,910 76,705
FRBERRANEBEREZ Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss 21 73,902 35,147
A ER [E] B 1S % Income tax recoverable 505 1,785
REeRRESEE Cash and cash equivalents 25 130,495 147,668

298,227 288,057

mEAE Current liabilities
FEFIE R FEETE A Creditors and accruals 26 34,289 25,380
FERHET 55T Income tax payable 1,852 589
36,141 25,969
mEEERE Net current assets 262,086 262,088
HEERTHAR Total assets less current liabilities 2,567,827 1,715,145
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e BIkRE () CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
R-E—_=Ff+_—_H=+—H at 37st December; 2023
2= T
2023 2022
ih=s FEiT FET
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
1% 981 ] Capital and reserves
R& AR Share capital 27 681,899 681,899
EA Reserves 1,140,852 872,206
EgaBs Total equity 1,822,751 1,554,105
ERDAR Non-current liabilities
EERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 28 145,076 161,040
HAb B3R Other borrowing 29 600,000 =
745,076 161,040
2,567,827 1,715,145

TN EIEEF167TE 2 GEAMBHREIDN =  The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 167 were
T NE=ZF - tEARESSBBARIEETZE - approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20th

W TIESKERES - March, 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:
FRiE SR
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
EE EE

Director Director
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IFEREEDE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
e T —Ff—_H=+—HIFFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
e nE ER
2.3 B EfhfE el ] REAH HE8H
Investment Property
Share revaluation revaluation  Exchange Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve profits equity
FAT FHT FET FAT FHT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-_F—f—H At 1st January, 2022 681,899 22,606 78,922 (4,118) 826,112 1,605,421
e Loss for the year - - - - (43,701) (43,701)
BREMEENER Change in fair value of equity
ARBEREZRATE  instrument at fair value through
ZARBERD other comprehensive income - (3,060) - - - (3,060)
BERERR Currency translation differences - - - (4,555) = (4,555)
FEEEMEEER Other comprehensive expense
for the year - (3,060) - (4,555) - (7,615)
AFELmERER Total comprehensive expense
for the year - (3,060) - (4,555) (43,701) (51,316)
R-E-—% At 31st December, 2022
+-A=t—-H 681,899 19,546 78,922 (8,673) 782,411 1,554,105
AEERT Profit for the year - - - - 264,999 264,999
ERAMZEN R Change in fair value of equity
RMABERBZRALIE  instrument at fair value through
LAREEZY other comprehensive income - 2,290 - - - 2,290
HEMB AR (Hiz8) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 8) - - - 3,007 - 3,007
GG R Currency translation differences = = = (1,650) = (1,650)
AEEAM2EKE Other comprehensive income
for the year - 2,290 - 1,357 - 3,647
AEERHNERE Total comprehensive income
for the year - 2,290 - 1,357 264,999 268,646
HEMB A RS Transfer upon disposals of
(FizE8) subsidiaries (note 8) - - (78,922) = 78,922 =
R-E-=% At 31st December, 2023
+-A=+—-H 681,899 21,836 = (7,316) 1,126,332 1,822,751
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reBeRDE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Bz — =FEFTZA=1—HIFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
—E2-= =
2023 2022
FETT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
BEEB OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 5 BT i A1) (E548) Profit (loss) before taxation 269,107 (44,286)
HEE Adjustments for:

ME  BEMREZITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 142 198

R IE H B8 Net exchange loss 1,026 549

TEEE EEEERE 2 55 (Reversal of impairment losses)

CRERD)RE impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net (1,445) 21,184
%@?ﬁﬁ?/ﬂ%zﬂfﬁ%ﬁ (Gain) loss from change in fair value of
""""" 28z (W) EiE investment properties (259,453) 27,457

HEME AR 2 F = Net gain on disposals of subsidiaries (6,702) -

RITHE A Bank interest income (5,262) (1,616)

BRI WA Loan interest income (6,045) (8,967)

L& A Finance costs 18,211 _

FRBARRANBEREZ 2/ Net decrease in fair value of financial

BEZ AR BERRD assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,330 8,325
2R B H A FE U R IE 2 FIL B A Interest income from other receivables (274) (245)
KEBEEEREALBEREY Dividend income from financial assets at

EREEZREEA fair value through profit or loss - (347)

BEESEHE 2 Operating cash flows before working

LB BN capital changes 13,635 2,252

T HREMEYTIE - TaftBEZ &% Decrease in trade and other receivables,

BEm prepayments and deposits 10,320 10,213
FETFRIB K FE AT B AR AN Increase in creditors and accruals 7,989 3,225
KEEEER 2SR Cash from operations 31,944 15,690

B (B E ﬁé%ﬁﬁ’e i PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded (paid) 37 21)
(EH)E BB B Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refunded (114) 1,925

REBERBZEEFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 31,867 17,594
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FeR&REE(E) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
e T —Ff—_H=+—HIFFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
—EZ= T —F
2023 2022
B eE F#ET FET
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
BREXEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BTER Loan advanced - 2,439
Wi —FME ARz Net cash outflow for an acquisition of
SRR a subsidiary 9 (403,430) -
REMFEZRE Addition to investment properties 19 (10,157) -
Bk EEREREALBEREy  Interest received from financial assets at
SREBEZNE fair value through profit or loss - 1,068
B EFRFE Loan interest received 7,004 9,719
BRER Loan repaid 77,609 -
2UERITH B Bank interest received 5,262 1,616
B R B H fn e R IE 2 K SA Interest received from other receivables 274 245
REHEMBRRIZ Net cash inflow from disposals of
FEREBMRA subsidiaries 8 289,743 -
(AR)RERERBEZHEBE NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (33,695) 15,087
ARMRREZAS CASH USED IN A FINANCING
ACTIVITY
BEAFIE Interest paid (15,292) -
BeRAECEE NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN
(D) BB CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (17,120) 32,681
REMZHER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
Re%E THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 147,668 119,853
HERBREGBZHE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES (53) (4,866)
RERZHAER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BHeEHE THE END OF THE YEAR 130,495 147,668
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Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiasec Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Its parent
is Autobest Holdings Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and its ultimate holding company is Allied Group Limited (“AGL”)
(incorporated in Hong Kong and listed on the Stock Exchange).
The address of the registered office which is also principal place of
business of the Company is disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are property investment
(including by way of equity investment as details set out in note 22),
property leasing and estate management. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also
the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1st January, 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and

February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the other new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the exception to recognising and
disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities that are
related to tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The
amendments require that entities apply the amendments immediately
upon issuance and retrospectively. The amendments also require that
entities to disclose separately its current tax expense/income related
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which the Pillar Two legislation
is in effect, and the qualitative and quantitative information about its
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the Pillar Two
legislation is enacted or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during the current
year because the Group’s entities are operating in jurisdictions which
the Pillar Two legislation has not yet been enacted or substantially
enacted. The Group will disclose known or reasonably estimable
information that helps users of financial statements to understand the
Group’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group’s annual
consolidated financial statements when the Pillar Two legislation is
enacted or substantially enacted and will disclose separately current
tax expense/income related to Pillar Two income taxes when it is in
effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

€ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

The management has, at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period.

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

The material accounting policy information are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Loss of control of subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSSs).

Asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred
tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further assessment
is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Asset acquisitions (continued)
Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to financial assets/financial liabilities
at fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction
does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a bundle of
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-
lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as
part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the property, the relevant property revaluation reserve
will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties are capitalised
as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Club memberships
Club memberships with indefinite useful lives that are acquired

separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at initial application of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designed and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI

Investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI is subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investment, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from the investment in equity instrument recognised in
profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “revenue”
line item in profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade receivables and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and loan receivables)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would

not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on an individual
basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and loan receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including other borrowings, creditors and tenants
deposits are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not eligible for capitalisation are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of
the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption has been
rebutted because the investment property of the Group is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from certain
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are
not held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in determining the deferred taxation
on investment properties, the Directors have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is not rebutted. The Group has recognised deferred tax on
changes in fair value of certain investment properties as the Group
may be subject to income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties (continued)

As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amount of deferred tax
on investment properties is amounted to HK$144,850,000 (2022:
HK$144,273,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination of
the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set out in note 19.

In relying on the valuation report, the management have exercised
their judgment and are satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any unexpected incidents
as a result of change in macroeconomic environment increased
complexity in international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in
policy direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties is HK$2,269,160,000 (2022:
HK$1,297,022,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair values of investment properties (continued)

Note 19 provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of these assets.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31st December, 2023, certain of the Group’s financial assets
amounting to HK$ 74,868,000 (2022: HK$72,679,000) are measured
at fair value with fair value being determined by using valuation
techniques based on significant unobservable inputs. Judgment
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could result in material adjustments to the fair
value of these instruments. Information about fair value measurement
of these financial instruments are set out in notes 21, 22 and 36(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of ECL for loan receivables and related other
receivables

The Group determines the ECL for loan receivables and related other
receivables based on probability of default and loss given default for
each individual loan as each of them have different loss patterns.

In determining the ECL for loan receivables and related other
receivables, the Group engages the Valuer to perform the calculation
of ECL taking into account on each of the borrowers and their
guarantor’s background, repayment history of their loans and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. The management of the
Company works closely with the Valuer to determine the appropriate
default rate and loss given default rate. At every reporting date,
the probability of default and loss given default are reassessed and

changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. As at 31st
December, 2023, the carrying amount of loan receivables and related
other receivables is HK$78,487,000 (2022: HK$155,359,000), net of
ECL of HK$101,249,000 (2022: HK$103,138,000). Information about
the ECL and the Group’s loan receivables and other receivables is
disclosed in note 36(b).



104

& M5 R ()
BE-—FE——fE+—F=+—FIEE

5a. WA KD BEFE R

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

5a. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

- = —F-—
2023 2022
FEITT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
KEMFEHEEHS KA Rental income from investment properties
that is fixed 40,366 32,164
VEERE Estate management fees 5,168 4,715
REFBEMEERFRA R BMEERE Dividend income from equity instrument
Z AT Ark B A at FVTOCI 1,350 1,500
46,884 38,379

MEEBEBHNRAR —BRBAER - A5EE
BEBUERMNXEE HERE BT BEHREERSE
15RERYEBIZEBNRA - REEABAEES
ARBERZENERER - RBEBMBRSE
ERHFISHMAE  RZEZ=FR=-F =
T A=+ BN T EBENEERE 2 TR E
DEBRTZEHNBHOERT

ARBNRTESZERBRARSNEERKSE -
HITESRRARENYEXHEERYMEEERF
—ZEDE  WiRI AR EM R ER -
At - WEHARNEBEZ WA - Fis - BEERAE

1B BBDAT

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—8 BKe@mBEEI
MRBEBFAEARLME([FE]) 2IERE
L EBMED B A2,273,240,0007% 7T K& 611,000
B (ZZF Z ZF : 1,244,637,000 % T &
57,717,000 7T) - RAFE - KBS R RHFT
BRI B A D R A46,315,00078 7T K 569,000/
JL(ZZF = =% :37,115,000/ 7t & 1,264,000/
JT) °

Revenue from estate management fees is recognised over time. The
Group applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 to recognise
revenue in the amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant lease agreements. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price of estate management services
allocated to the remaining performance obligations as at 31st
December, 2023 and 2022 is not disclosed.

The executive directors of the Company have been identified as the
chief operating decision maker. The executive directors regard the
Group’s business as a single operating segment, which is property
leasing and estate management and reviews financial information as
a whole accordingly. Therefore, no segment analysis of the Group’s
revenue, results, assets and liabilities are presented.

As at 31st December, 2023, other than financial instruments, the
total of non-current assets located in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) are HK$2,273,240,000 and HK$611,000
(2022: HK$1,244,637,000 and HK$57,717,000) respectively. During
the current year, the total revenue derived from Hong Kong and the
PRC are HK$46,315,000 and HK$569,000 (2022: HK$37,115,000
and HK$1,264,000) respectively.
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FEeMBERERME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
e —E——Ff+ - fH=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
5b. FERF &R 5b. INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

EAREE B AT10% A ERIEEFEMHHIREMZE  Revenue from customers relating to rents from investment properties
HeBENZPWALT : of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group are as follows:

—E_=H —E_F
2023 2022
F#&T FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZEA Customer A 8,239 N/A!
ZFB Customer B 5,307 5,189
L MHE R AE T BAREE SR AR10% © ! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.
6. EMA 6. OTHER INCOME
=== -
2023 2022
F#&T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITFEHA Bank interest income 5,262 1,616
BEF 8 U A Loan interest income 6,045 8,967
BIS B (f7aE) Government grants (Note) - 540
2R B H Al B MR IE 2 F B U Interest income from other receivables 274 245
REBBESEARBEREZ Dividend income from financial assets
TREEZREWA at FVTPL - 347
REFEZERATZEEREEW A  Management fee income from intermediate
holding company 1,110 864
RE—HRRMNBARZ Management fee income from a fellow
BERBERA subsidiary 325 _
HAh, Others 342 149
13,358 12,728
e - MNEBE_E-_—_F+-_F=+—HBItEER - Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group has recognised
N ERERWEF B BRI R R4 A ERR government grants of HK$540,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies,
HESEHEAENTATRES Z2BF@EE A which related to Employment Support Scheme was paid by Hong Kong

540,000/ 7T, ° Special Administrative Region.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

7. OTHER LOSS

- = —E -
2023 2022
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRIE K 518 Net exchange loss 1,026 549

8. HEWBARARZFNKa

R-E—_=F_A—-—++tH AEEFIIYMMHE
ERFEALEHEIEROYE - —MBEARRIZE
BEE2EMBARERLZHRREARAF(NX
ZZEEZENBARGI N 2 EEHH# - R
80,000,000/ * BALE —HEEZERA
A RZBZERARDNEHEBITRAREER
REROANLEAEEMRREZETIEZL
ME - B—MAARARZEED AN B A A HE
EEEZHE2EMNBARI Y 2 EEH# - A
#1X8250,000,00078 7T * i T E M E R EE
BRAR([HEEEEZEARDHEHEFHITRA
REEERRZEFN TR EHERNEBGLNES
ZETHEROYE - ZERHER_T_=F+
RA=R%K ' &K B AR 2z E182,042,000
BT K & T B A B 2 Wk 258,744,000 T B,
DRAFFARERE_T-_=F 2E% - 254
EZHBEBRER _ZE_=F_HA_++H
AAF - REEBMEEBZHME A RAT

8. NET GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 27th February, 2023, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements to dispose of its non-core properties. A sale
and purchase agreement was entered into between a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“TACI”)
to dispose of certain PRC non-core properties of the Group through
the disposal of the entire issued share capital of an investment
holding company (“TACI Target Companies”) and the assignment of
shareholder’s loan at the consideration of HK$80,000,000. Another
sale and purchase agreement was entered into between a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of AGL to dispose of certain Hong Kong non-core
properties of the Group through the disposal of the entire issued
share capital of two investment holding companies (“AGL Target
Companies”) and the assignment of the respective shareholder’s
loans at the aggregate consideration of HK$250,000,000. These
transactions were completed on 3rd July, 2023, and loss on disposal
of subsidiaries of HK$2,042,000 and gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of HK$8,744,000 respectively were charged and recognised to the
profit or loss in 2023. Details of the disposals were disclosed in the
joint announcement of the Company, TACI and AGL dated 27th
February, 2023 and are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

8. NET GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
Disposal of TACI Target Companies

The net assets of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as

follows:

T
HK$’000

HEREE : Net assets disposed of:
W -~ R Rk Property, plant and equipment 4
"EME Investment properties 55,066
H b FE WK IE R iR @ Other receivables and deposits 22
ReEMREEE Cash and cash equivalents 38,778
IRERE Shareholders’ loans (65,508)
H AT RIA R RS Other creditors and tenants deposits (425)
FEAS PS5 Income tax payable ®)
BEERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities (14,402)
HEFEE Net assets disposed of 13,527
EERRER Assignment of shareholders’ loan 65,508
bE 5% By (e Exchange translation reserve 3,007
HEZEE Loss on disposal (2,042)
& P 1S sk IA Proceeds on disposal 80,000

MESHFHEEREREAEHN

HEMEEZRRETA :
WE IR & KRB
HEZRENREEFE

Property revaluation reserve transferred to

retained profits

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

14,466

Total cash consideration received 80,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (38,778)
41,222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

8. NET GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Disposal of AGL Target Companies

The net assets of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as

follows:

T
HK$’000

HEREE : Net assets disposed of:
e S ] Property, plant and equipment 493
wEYZE Investment properties 243,600
RSEWIE « BRERRIES Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits 266
ReEMREEE Cash and cash equivalents 1,479
IR ER Shareholders’ loans (155,768)
H AT RIA R RS Other creditors and tenants deposits (1,874)
FE RS HE Income tax payable (146)
BIEF IR AR Deferred tax liabilities (2,562)
HEFEE Net assets disposed of 85,488
EERRER Assignment of shareholders’ loans 155,768
&z e Gain on disposal 8,744
& TS A Proceeds on disposal 250,000

MEEHFHEEREREAEN

HEMREEZRRERA ¢
WERH) IR & KB
HEZRENASEFE

Property revaluation reserve transferred to
retained profits

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

64,456

Total cash consideration received 250,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (1,479)
248,521
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

9. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27th February, 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with third parties to acquire a property, which including certain
commercial units and car-parking spaces in Hong Kong, through (i)
the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of an investment
holding company (“Target Company”) and (i) the assignment of loan
indebted by Target Company to its shareholder, at the consideration
of HK$3. It was further agreed that at completion, the Purchaser
entered into a loan agreement to provide to the Target Company a
loan in the amount of HK$1,000,000,000. The total payment for the
acquisition was HK$1,000,000,003. The transaction was completed
on 5th July, 2023.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and concluded
that:

(@)  The land and building components of each commercial units and
car-parking spaces are considered a single identifiable asset;
and

(b) The group of commercial units and car-parking spaces is a
group of similar identifiable assets because the assets are
similar in nature and risks associated with managing and
creating outputs are not significantly different.

Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)
acquired is concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets
and concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

9. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

The assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as
follows:

FAET

HK$’000

WEYE(HE19) Investment properties (Note 19) 1,003,056
HMERHRIERIES Other receivables and deposits 674
HPke Tenants deposits (300)
IKEARE @ BFER KA Consideration on acquisition, including transaction costs 1,003,430

KMERAFREEHSRLNH

Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of Target Company

FAT

HK$’000

KB Consideration on acquisition 1,000,000
W EE A 2 R SRR Transaction costs attributable to the acquisition 3,430
LA E M A 2 A 2 RAE Consideration satisfied by other borrowing (600,000)
NReESTNZRE Consideration paid in cash 403,430

ARBMENBRAHREMERITT
ITEHE -

The Group has subsequently measured the investment property at
date of acquisition as follow:

FET

HK$’000

AW LKA Investment property, at cost 1,003,056
TREEm 2 AR EEE N Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 266,944
KEWE R AFTEE Investment property, at fair value 1,270,000

10. BE AR

10. FINANCE COSTS

—EZ= =2
2023 2022
TF#ET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FENFEMER Interest on other borrowing 18,211 -
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REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023

11, JEEA=EEBER Y F5EmEME 11. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
B CifE) (IMPAIRMENT LOSSES) UNDER EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

=== —FE-=
2023 2022
FEITT FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
R 5 FEW IR Trade receivables
TEEEEEEER 2 FmORE) (Impairment losses) reversal of
PEAEEAE] impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net (444) 1,607
FE W E K Loan receivables
FEHEEEEER R R ER D Reversal of impairment losses
CRvE) (impairment losses) under expected
credit loss model, net 1,889 (22,691)
1,445 (21,184)
12. PSR H (EH) 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)
=== -2
2023 2022
FEIT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
S BE The charge comprises:
KEE Current year
—BBTER — Hong Kong Profits Tax 2,628 843
— B ESH - PRC Enterprise Income Tax 26 29
2,654 872
BEFEBRBREE Overprovision in prior years
— BB - Hong Kong Profits Tax (34) (53)
2,620 819
EIEFLIE (fa£28) Deferred taxation (note 28) 1,488 (1,404)

REEZEFTER S GR) Income tax expense (credit) for the year 4,108 (585)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (continued)

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
profit (loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as follows:

—E-=HF —E -4
2023 2022
FRET TET
HK$’000 HK$°000
B 5 A a A1) (E538) Profit (loss) before taxation 269,107 (44,286)
BEBEMMNE16.5%TE 7HE  Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax of
(ZF==%F :16.5%) 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 44,403 (7,307)
TRMERZ 2 Effect of different tax rate (1,529) (52)
PR 2 BB & Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose 3,251 7,228
IERBUMA 2 FiIBR 2 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose (46,313) (860)
B FE R Overprovision in prior years (34) (53)
AERHIEEB 2 HETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,045 6
B AT R R BIEE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
> RIS 2 not recognised (68) (139)
HAtb Others 1,353 592
AREZFER L (E) Income tax expense (credit) for the year 4,108 (585)

RZBE-NF=ZA=-+—H BELEEEBE
“EEFEBRBUER) (BT ROEAR(DA
) BREMAGMNEHEXGE - ZEARR
“E-NF=ZA-TN\BEITRLER IR
BB TIEBAED - /AR SR 1S5 XS E
T NHeEBRNKEERNE2EEBITEN
#128.25% BT - iR B2 A &8 7T A M i 4%
16.5% L ° AT & ARSI FSH G EERD &
B B8 0 R S A B A1 6.5% B0 5 — BE R BAR o

REBFBEDEMAETOR(TRRMAEBR]) MEX
FSBUEREMERD] - REMBEFER - BRRE
B R R R 525% e

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (“Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on
28th March, 2018 and was gazette on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.



TEWERRAT —E-=FF5 113
REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
e —E——Ff+ - fH=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
13. NEEaA (EE) 13. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
=== -2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REHAN(EE)EHE : Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived
at after charging:
Yz BB RERETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 142 198
HekEMmER Salaries and other costs 12,017 12,793
IRIRAE I ET B K Retirement benefits scheme contributions 291 291
EEKRAEE(BEESHE) Total staff costs
(including directors’ emoluments) 12,308 13,084
EERS WA ZIEEYERD Direct operating expenses of investment
EECEER properties that generated rental income 13,295 13,557
WEELEHS WA ZREMERN Direct operating expenses of investment
BEEEESBR properties that did not generate rental
income 1,949 2,065
ZERT & Auditor’s remuneration 1,702 1,605
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REMBGHRETME () NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
14, EEM< 14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
ENREMNTFIA(ZE_—F : 7Th)EE 24  The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2022: seven)
m Directors were as follows:
k- )
2023
we/
REER BHET
Hthigdl AR
Salaries/ Retirement
EEW& service fees ok (40 benefits
Directors’ and other Discretionary scheme e
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
FET F#T FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BTES Executive Directors
TRE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 201 207 - 418
FHE Lee Shu Yin 10 2,340 810 18 3,178
BEH Edwin Lo King Yau 10 - - - 10
A Tao Tsan Sang 10 137 177 13 337
40 2,678 1,194 31 3,943

FiBERZHTEESMEANEEEIEAR AR K  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
REBEEZ R - services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

Zl

BUERTES Independent
Non-Executive Directors
£ Li Chak Hung 10 118 - - 128
BER Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 92 - - 102
ERER(M-Z-MF—HF ChoiKin Man (passed away on
N HEE) 26th January, 2024) 10 92 - - 102

30 302 - - 332

iR B IR TESESMeEREEEAZA  The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
NEZEEZ R © were for their services as directors of the Company.

k] Total 4,275
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FEMBHERMEGE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
14, EFWE (8) 14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
—E-F
2022
%o/
R E K RINEA
Hib g7l AR
Salaries/ Retirement
EEH4%  service fees WA benefits
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme st
fees benefits bonuses  contributions Total
FET FHET FHET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BITER Executive Directors
TR Patrick Lee Seng Wei 10 335 355 - 700
THE Lee Shu Yin 10 2,390 1,325 18 3,743
B Edwin Lo King Yau 10 - - - 10
fRE Tao Tsan Sang 10 226 262 21 519
40 2,951 1,942 39 4,972

BRI HITEEMEEREEEEA AT SR  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
NEBERZIRE © services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

all

BUFRTES Independent
Non-Executive Directors
TR Li Chak Hung 10 118 - - 128
BET Lisa Yang Lai Sum 10 92 - - 102
ZRR(W-Z-WF—F ChoiKin Man (passed away on
=+~ BREtt) 26th January, 2024) 10 92 - - 102

30 302 = = 332

LR BT IEHITEEMESENEEEAZ  The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
NAIZEE 2R - were for their services as directors of the Company.

e Total 5,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei and Mr. Lee Shu Yin perform the function
of the chairman and chief executive of the Company respectively and
their emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by the chairman and chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 31st
December, 2023 and 2022.

15. EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, there
are two (2022: two) Directors of the Group whose emoluments are
included in note 14 above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2022: three) individuals for the year ended 31st December, 2023 are
as follows:

—EZ= —F -
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
e REAET Salaries and other benefits 2,194 2,279
HEEFHE RS Performance related incentive payments 343 304
RIRFE TS B R Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 54
2,591 2,637
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

15. EEXEREEAEME (@) 15. EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
ZENTZHEDHOT ¢ The emoluments of the individual are within the following bands:
—E—= — T
2023 2022
EE®E EEHE
Number of Number of
employees employees
07 7T — 1,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
1,000,001/ 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1

BREBRABZMSEREN ER B
ATBE-_ZE-_=FR_FT_—&+_#
=t+—BLEFEZE=HH -

REB Z FHMBERIZRITI IS H KT R %
HEASERRRERNEEZRAEE - RiE
MERN  AEBEYEREUSSME AL
FMERMERMAREE R HINAREE R K
MEREEREFNAR 2R -

16. FAEF (EE)

RRBRIREN < BREARN (BE) IR
THBERE ¢

The emolument of the senior management is included in the above
highest emoluments of the remaining three individuals for the years
ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022.

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individuals employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or a
compensation for loss of office as a director.

16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

= —EF -
2023 2022
TF#ET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BH(EBR) Earnings (loss)
RAUAEEREREF(EE)Z Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
ARRRREIEARF RN (ER) owners of the Company for the purpose
of basic earnings (loss) per share 264,999 (43,701)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)

—m— = s — —

— —— =

2023 2022
F +
‘000 ‘000
.4 . Number of shares
LAt E G EAREF (E18) 2 E3@mA&k Number of ordinary shares for the purpose
2B of basic earnings (loss) per share 1,240,669 1,240,669

RZZE-=FER_ZT__FERN - WLE27
IREERF(EE)  AAR-_Z_=FEk_
T —FERAEEETEINEEEBR

17. IR B

EEeRRTEREE _ S _ =GR __F
+ZA=t+—BLFEZEMAKE -

No diluted earnings (loss) per share for both 2023 and 2022 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both
2023 and 2022.

17. DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to declare any dividend for
the years ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022.
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REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
18. M - MB L& 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HELH
REEY FHREE
Leasehold BOERE Furniture RE
land and Office and Motor it
buildings  equipment fixtures vehicles Total
FHET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
B¥E COST
RZZE=—F—F—H At 1st January, 2022 965 2,326 16,475 679 20,445
BERE AR Currency translation difference - ) ©) - )
RZZ-—F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 965 2,325 16,473 679 20,442
MERERE Currency translation difference = 3) = = (3)
R ERB R B Derecognised upon disposals of
BUBHER subsidiaries (562) (191) (3,851) - (4,604)
RZEZ=F At 31st December, 2023
+=-RA=+—H 403 2,131 12,622 679 15,835
e DEPRECIATION
RZZTZ—F—-H—H At 1st January, 2022 292 2,186 16,279 419 19,176
EERE AR Currency translation difference - 1) 2) - 3)
AEFEAE Provided for the year 18 71 49 60 198
R-ZE__F At 31st December, 2022
+-A=+—-H 310 2,256 16,326 479 19,371
EERE AR Currency translation difference - 1) - - )
AEFA R Provided for the year 11 46 25 60 142
R ERB R ER Eliminated upon disposals of
Wik subsidiaries (188) (189) (3,730) - (4,107
RZZE-_=F+-F=1+—H At 31st December, 2023 133 2,112 12,621 539 15,405
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE-=F+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 270 19 1 140 430
RZZ-=—F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 655 69 147 200 1,071
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ALEEBAYME BERRBZIITENEEEMR
AAERERNBEAREEATERGFE

THE T R EEY)
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WAZRME

Office equipment

R REE
Furniture and fixtures

e

Motor vehicles

19. IKEME

AEBBRBLEEAENS AT RS EASERE
EVE  AEMENEES  c HERKRPBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
using the straight-line method after taking into account of their
estimated residual values at the following rates per annum:

HEREHEEZ IR I=TERTF
Over the shorter of term of the lease, or 30 to 50 years

20%

20%

20%

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various residential properties, commercial
properties and carparks under operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to six
years (2022: one to six years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease
beyond initial period for three to six years (2022: three to six years)
held by lessees only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market
review clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.
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REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
19. REWZE (%) 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
=== -2
2023 2022
F#T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
N EE FAIR VALUE
REF] At the beginning of the year 1,297,022 1,329,370
HBE Additions 10,157 =
U B% — 1B B A M ERAS (A1729) Acquired on acquisition of
a subsidiary (Note 9) 1,003,056 -
BEREFE Currency translation difference (1,862) (4,891)
RSB A RS RER (Hi7F8) Derecognised upon disposals of
subsidiaries (Note 8) (298,666) -
NABEZFLEMCRD) Net increase (decrease) in fair value
RN B recognised in profit or loss 259,453 (27,457)
RER At the end of the year 2,269,160 1,297,022

FEEZRENER_FT_=FR
TZA=T-RZAREBETHEREEEER
B 2 HE A E BB ER A RN E BT

e -

EHAMEZRABER  MENKSMRER
BREEAMG REREMEZRR
B AR SER R EHERA - NEReE

— = — —

—=

BEEH

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31st
December, 2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Norton Appraisals
Holdings Limited, a valuer not connected with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or

BatE - accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.
—E-Z=HF T
2023 2022
TF#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
TEMFEMNR : Investment properties are located in:
B8 Hong Kong 2,269,160 1,239,920
i PRC - 57,102
2,269,160 1,297,022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of
the major investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised in
Levels 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable.

Particulars of valuation techniques of investment properties

Valuation technique — Investment method (term and reversionary

FEERFERENE
Investment properties held by the Group

approach)
EEREBERSH
Significant unobservable inputs
kR ERkaE ENEENFYTHENES
Average market unit
Term yield Reversionary yield rent of individual unit

NN PAEIRES

Commercial properties in Hong Kong

AR EB 2 B

Carparks in Hong Kong

R EA 2 EEWE (Hi7E)

Residential properties in Hong Kong (note)

e B EEME (Hit)

Residential properties in PRC (note)

AR Bz A E (Kt

Commercial properties in PRC (note)

2.75% - 3.75%
(ZTB=—%F:

2% - 4.25%)

2.75% - 3.75%
(2022: 2% - 4.25%)

4.25%

(2=

4.25%)
4.25%

(2022: 4.25%)

i
(&=
1.5% - 2.75%)

Nil

(2022: 1.5% - 2.75%)

i3
(ZE=-—&:
1.25% - 2.25%)
Nil

(2022: 1.25% - 2.25%)

i
(Z2==%:
3.5%)

Nil

(2022: 3.5%)

3.25% - 4.75%

(Z%2==

2.5% - 4.25%)

3.25% - 4.75%
(2022: 2.5% - 4.25%)

4.75%

(2%

4.75%)
4.75%

(2022: 4.75%)

3
(Z%2==
2% - 3.25%)
Nil

(2022: 2% - 3.25%)

=
(ZE-—F:
1.75% - 2.75%)
Nil

(2022: 1.75% - 2.75%)

3
(ZB==F:
4%)

Nil

(2022: 4%)

WETHRBA14SBLEBTAR
BRANGBT(ZE-_4:
HWETHREBA145BLE
BYHREBA1208TT)

Around HK$14.5 sa.ft./month
to HK$115 sq.ft./month
(2022: around HK$14.5 sq.ft./
month to HK$120 sq.ft./month)

HETHRE A3, 7005 T
(ZZ2Z=F : H15TAR
§A3,600/7T)

Around HK$3,700/month
(2022: around HK$3,600/month)

fm

(ZZ2ZZ% : YETARBAET

E5YHRFA4IET)

Nil (2022: around HK$31 sq.ft./month
to HK$41 sq.ft./month)

i3

m

(Z2Z=F: NETFAKREBAARE
126TEGFHAGHAARE2107)
Nil (2022: around RMB126 sg.m./
month to RMB210 sg.m./month)

it
(ZB-—F BT KEAARE
1237T)

Nil (2022: around RMB123
sg.m./month)
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EERIBRSBEN

EEREREIEEZ2BCAZURTAESRE
ABBREEME AR BENBEEIHIWOT -

EERIERSH
Significant
unobservable inputs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Particulars of significant unobservable inputs

The factors on determination of the respective significant
unobservable inputs and the relationship of unobservable inputs for

fair value of investment properties are set out below.

EEER
Determination
factors

ELBRSHEREEYR
DNREEMRE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs for fair value of
investment properties

GEREE G

Term yield

&

Bl asx

Reversionary yield

@RI B FEHSEMES

Average market unit rent of
individual unit

BURBEZE TRXEDEMEMI - EBREBREME

& B3 AT L8 2 e 8 B DA R R T B
T W ER A HA U O B TE 1 TR AR ) U
Taking into account of yield generated
from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received.

ZRIFLLBRMENFEEMTIHEES K
AREBERITE -

Taking into account of annual unit
market rental income and unit market
value of the comparable properties.

miEENHSEEE MG L RYWHEL
B wERIHEMEMERNEZE - E
PR IETE ~ W3 R/NFIRR b ©

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

Note:

BHPRERN EASER AR EETRE -

The increase in the term yield would
result in a decrease in fair value.

ERMEEN LFRERAR EETHR -

The increase in the reversionary yield
would result in a decrease in fair value.

MEENHEEN ENEERAABEL

H o

The increase in the market unit rent
would result in an increase in fair value.

Other than certain commercial properties and carparks in Hong Kong, the remaining
REBE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIFEEBBHE
REERA RN 2 ME BITIRA R EERRE (L0
8T HEE )M AR HE -

investment properties were disposed through the disposals of the entire issued
share capital of investment holding companies and assignment of shareholder’s
loans as disclosed in note 8 during the year ended 31st December, 2023.
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FEeMBERERME () NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
P —FE = =—H=1—HIFE for the year ended 37st December;, 2025
20. R—EBtE ARl 2 20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE
—EZ= —_EF-—
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
WE KA - JEET Cost of investments, unlisted - =
FEAE W BB 18 2 m Fl &2 Share of post-acquisition profits and
HE2mmkas other comprehensive income,
bR AR B.1% net of dividends received - =

IR EEMRERATATRBEISMIZE S  The investment cost in Beijing Jingyuan Property Development Co.,
WM ERINE AN ETEES o Ltd. incorporated in PRC was fully impaired and under the process of
liquidation.

TEME NN -_ZE-_=FKx-_=——F+—F Details of the associate as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022 were
=+ —HZEBRFERHE40(b) © set out in note 40(b).

o1, FREXREAABHEERE S 21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
=

BEE PROFIT OR LOSS
—E=F —E-—

2023 2022
F#ET FHEIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ELTIEERES Unlisted investment funds 73,902 78,226

HEMEOmMIEL 2 HWTLT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
EMEEE Non-current assets - 43,079
mENE E Current assets 73,902 35,147
73,902 78,226

B L EH LA A R EBESIER - AREEFE Al of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
BFFIEE IR FES6(C) o fair value measurements are set out in note 36(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

22. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—E-= —E -4
2023 2022
TFHET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEMEARSEARBERE Y,  Equity instrument at FVTOCI (Note)
AT E(K ) 31,890 29,600
Hia - Note:

ZEEEASREIERFEYRKENIF LM ARMNE%
(Z2=—F 5% B -BEFRERBBATAZER
BREEMBBEMEANRGERARBERE AR
MRAERELREN DA BEERET LRI
AAKERUFEEURAYBRERMEAE NN
ERAEA—2

A LB AR R BESE - BEREHI KM
36(c) ©

23. X5 M HAMEIKFIA - T ER

The amount represents the Group’s 5% (2022: 5%) equity interest in an unlisted
company, which is principally engaged in property investment. Directors have
elected to designate this investment in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they
believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in
profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these
investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in the
long run.

The above investment is stated at fair value and details of the fair value
measurements are set out in note 36(c).

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

RRZES AND DEPOSITS
== —=E-=

2023 2022

FEIT BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

R 5 W GIA Trade receivables 6,223 14,624

H b e Y 208 Other receivables 6,785 10,636

AR ERREZE Prepayments and deposits 2,407 1,492

15,415 26,752
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
AND DEPOSITS (continued)

Trade receivables represent rental receivable which are receivable on
the presentation of debit notes. The Group generally allows a credit
period of 30 days to its tenant. The aging of these trade receivables
of the Group, net of provisions and in accordance with the revenue
recognition dates, is as follows:

—E-= —E-—F

2023 2022

FAET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

30HA Within 30 days 5,109 13,366
31HZE60H 31 - 60 days 579 733
61HZ90H 61 - 90 days - 6
91HE120H 91 — 120 days 399 348
121HZ2180H 121 — 180 days 136 171
6,223 14,624

HE_Z-=6F6+—"F=+—08 ' A&£EEXFE
WHIERETRAEZEBA REEREEES
H o H4ABRME{EA1,792,0008 (- E ==
1,492,000/ 7T) L@ EARREER - 535,000 7T
(ZZ==F : 519,000/ T ) E@HIO0 R E &
B - TR AEL BEHBRBEEZREE
ARBERFZRAGERRER, RZT_=F1+=
A=+—HB KERIAAREFEBEER
BERZEBA - sHRREEE /678,000 T
(ZZ -4 : 234,000/ 7T) °

As at 31st December, 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$1,792,000 (2022: HK$1,492,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$535,000
(2022: HK$519,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default since the balances are mainly with long term
credit customers with good credit quality. An impairment allowance of
HK$678,000 (2022: HK$234,000) was made at 31st December, 2023
on debtors which frequently repay after due dates but usually settle in
full.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
AND DEPOSITS (continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

—E= —F-—
2023 2022
FHET FHAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
EUE D) United States Dollars (‘USD”) 597 588

HEZZZ-_=F+-A=+—8 ' HitEKKX
B B EEREE 54,262,000 0 (ZE ==
4,338,000/ 7T) * FERE.88% (=T
5.63%) @ RAIREKEE -

24. FEWWE R

R|ERR  AEEAFF2E(ZZ =

AE) BKRER  BEFFHEHEL75%E15%
(ZE-—F 1 4.75%E15%) - IR T —_=F
T A=F—BZ2E(=FT = —F : 4A) EKE

FoBPIECCTE_F 1) SERRARE
ER O 1E(CT_—F:2@) REEREEE
RELBEAM(ZE==F 1H) hERERE

ER YR -—E-——FE+BE-—FE-—mE+— A
(—E——F: —FE-—E+AFE T - J4F
T—A)EE RS

As at 31st December, 2023, included in other receivables are balance
of HK$4,262,000 (2022: HK$4,338,000) which bears interest of
5.88% (2022: 5.63%) and is repayable on demand.

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has loan receivables
from two (2022: four) parties which bear fixed interest rate ranging
from 5.75% to 15% (2022: 4.75% to 15%) per annum. In respect
of two (2022: four) loan receivables as at 31st December, 2023,
one (2022: one) is unsecured and guaranteed and one (2022: two)
is secured and guaranteed and none (2022: one) is unsecured and
unguaranteed, and have maturity dates ranging from October 2021
to November 2024 (2022: October 2021 to November 2024) and are
analysed as follows:
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FREMIERTRMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
e —E——Ff+ - fH=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
24. BB R (& 24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
—E—= — T
2023 2022
F#T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEZEWERBIE : The Group’s loan receivable comprise:
FEWNZEE (H1at) Note receivables (Note) 175,740 175,740
o ORE Less: Impairment (97,830) (97,716)
77,910 78,024
EMERER Other loan receivables - 78,707
B ORE Less: Impairment - (2,002)
- 76,705
77,910 154,729
—E-Z=HF ===
2023 2022
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$°000
HEMBEOmMEL 2 HTLT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
ERBEE Non-current assets - 78,024
MENEE Current assets 77,910 76,705

77,910 154,729
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78 M5 R EE ()
HE=@==F+=A=1—ALEE

24. FEWE R (&

Hiat -
ngﬁlmﬂf %I‘iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁg TF%TTEWUE%ZE
mi%c—%ﬁﬁﬁmnmom%ncf*——i

78,100,000 ) 2 EREBEBEEE 2 LB
ARFBEARAG([FBE)AMBARTNNR=Z

—hFE+-ARTYBEAKERE ZFZBERR
I el FIBEIE IR o MEBB D FH12190,000% 7T

(ZZ=—4% :76,000/7T) °

B REREERSEAI7,640,0008 (===

97,640,000/ T ) A — MBI /AT ET AR ([Z1TAL
ZHBRAAR-ZZ—N\F+ARTIEALAEERFH
ZEBEABEITANNE R R Z 5 TROEIRF—2 L
BAABBRERERAER -BREBETAREE=Z
——FtTANHREEASTRKERFE  LEZ
AmmﬁLﬁIgﬁTﬂEW6mom%n&7?f:

F : 97,640,000 L) st ARBE_ZT_=F R =%
ZZF+=ZA=1+—8 - ZREZBEFBEHER

“E-N\ET AT BERRBZAM -

ZIEREEFERHESREBIEAERNEET
i A B BR ST AR A R AT T Z FH A M RE © R
ERLHFFBEER A TE36(0) ©

HE-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H8 EHEtEKEZZE
E {8 /42,998,000 TABEHFZFEHFRER - EEK
ANEBENNBERT » AEB R AT ESHEHK
HEERR - AEEWR A BREELER R mESE
Y EL i FE U BT SR S 4R A o

— {87 & /97,640,000 7t (= F = =4 : 97,640,000
BILTINEREEERRAEEEEE  ZRKEREE
ECEC_=FN_T_—_HF+-_A=+—BHLEFER
RELEBERAS RFSTEL ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
Note:

The note receivables included two loan notes which was subscribed by the
Group at the notes issuance date. A loan note in the gross carrying amount of
HK$78,100,000 (2022: HK$78,100,000) was issued by a subsidiary of Sun Hung
Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”), a listed subsidiary of AGL, in November 2019 and held by
the Group, which was unsecured and guaranteed by SHK. Impairment allowance in
the amount of HK$190,000 (2022: HK$76,000) has been made.

The other loan note in the amount of HK$97,640,000 (2022: HK$97,640,000)
was issued by a subsidiary of an independent former listed company (“Issuer”)
in October 2018 and held by the Group, which was secured by certain shares
of the Issuer’s subsidiaries and an individual personal guarantor. The loan note
was in default as the Issuer failed to repay both the principal amount and loan
interest receivable upon maturity in October 2021, leading to the recognition of
the impairment in the amount of HK$97,640,000 (2022: HK$97,640,000) which is
fully impaired as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022. Details of the subscription of
the note was disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11th October,
2018.

The ECL was determined by the Directors, based on a valuation performed by an
independent and qualified professional valuer, Norton Appraisal Holdings Limited.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36(b).

As at 31st December, 2022, there was HK$42,998,000 other loan receivable which
was pledged with collaterals such as debentures. The Group is not permitted to sell
or repledge the collaterals in the absence of default by the borrower. The Group has
not recognised a loss allowance for such other loan receivables as a result of these
collaterals.

Loss allowance has been recognised for a note receivable with a principal amount
of HK$97,640,000 (2022: HK$97,640,000) which has default in repayment of both
principal and interest receivable during the years ended 31st December, 2023 and
2022.
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FEeMBERERME(E) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e —E——Ff+ - fH=+—HIFE for the year ended 37st December;, 2025

24. FEWE R (&) 24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

BTHEBEEREE L EE N - NEEEZE The Group's loan receivables that are denominated in currencies
WEFIR N B BN TIFHE : other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are
set out below:

=== -2
2023 2022
FET FHET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
= usD 77,910 78,024
25. e MRS EE 25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
=== -
2023 2022
F#&T FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
REMREFE : Cash and cash equivalents:
RITEFEIAS Cash at bank and on hand 28,328 33,669
5ERIRITIF R Short-term bank deposits with original
(RA=EARNEIE) maturity within three months 102,167 113,999
HeaRensRcBEe Rk Cash and cash equivalents for
ReFEI consolidated statement of cash flows
analysis 130,495 147,668

WR-—_E-—=F#+—-_A=+—H B4 KE4 As at 31st December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents carry
ZLEFFEZRITHEMNERE20%ZES5.64%  prevailing market rates ranging from 5.20% to 5.64% (2022: 4.22% to
(ZZ==F : 4.22%%=5.60%) ° 5.60%) per annum.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

BTHEBEEERE I EELIN - IS KIF4  The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in currencies other
SER TGS EMIEE : than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:
—E=HF —E_F
2023 2022
TF#T FEIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR RMB 10 20
I Uusb 5,001 2,618
5,011 2,638
26. JEN I IB N FEEHE 26. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS
—E—= — T
2023 2022
F#T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
R 5 IR Trade creditors 474 1,640
E b fE A 508 Other creditors 14,489 5,951
Gish=ri-&n Tenants deposits 15,394 14,377
ErtEEER Accrued operating expenses 3,932 3,412
34,289 25,380
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

26. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS (continued)

The ageing of the trade creditors of the Group in accordance with
invoice date is as follows:

—E—= — T
2023 2022
FET FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
30HIA Within 30 days 459 1,228
31HZ=E60H 31-60 days - 397
1208 A £ Over 120 days 15 15
474 1,640
07, BEIAS 27. SHARE CAPITAL
B & FEIT
Number of
shares HK$'000
BEITRETE Issued and fully paid:
R-_ZTE_—_F—HF—H8 - At 1st January, 2022,
B _F+-A=1+—HE 31st December, 2022 and
—E-_=F+=-—H=+—H 31st December, 2023 1,240,668,945 681,899

ARRIZHMBARNBE T _=F R _T_—
F+_A=F+—HIEFERNRERE  HERE
EERIAREZ ETHRES o

None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company's listed securities during the years ended 31st
December, 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and

AR : movements thereon during the current and prior years:
T ER
BRHEMRIE
Land
appreciation
AREE tax and Hith #st
Fair value other tax Other Total
FET T T TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE-_—_F—F—H At 1st January, 2022 146,774 15,619 1,315 163,708
RENE B (BE) Nk (Credit) charge to profit or
loss for the year (2,501) 618 479 (1,404)
BERERE Currency translation difference = (1,264) = (1,264)
RZZE-_—F+=-FA=+—H At 31st December, 2022 144,273 14,973 1,794 161,040
RER BB MR (EE) Charge (credit) to profit or
loss for the year 577 (83) 994 1,488
KERERZE Currency translation difference = (488) = (488)
P 6 BB A R HBR Eliminated on disposals of
subsidiaries - (14,402) (2,562) (16,964)
R-Z-_=%+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2023 144,850 - 226 145,076

RB|EBR - AEEEA TR RETN 2 KRB
T8 E18 /7822,347,0008 T (ZE == :
3,401,000/ 7T ) » R EETAAMANGN - B
BB T 2 HIABBERRENIAEE -

ZERBAHIAEERABRIRE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$822,347,000 (2022: HK$3,401,000) available
to offset against future assessable profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.

These unused tax losses have no expiry date.
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FEeMBERERME ()
HE=—F-—=fF+=F=1—HILFE
29. EAfEm

AEENEMERRMEMEERSN  XAES
RAFETBEBAFAERE - SIEREIRRIAE
READE R B EFF TN ES4S

. REHEAE

KEFE Y EME S W AR 40,366,000 % IT
(ZZZ=%F : 32,164,000 7T) - HEKMEZ
HEHIFrEH ZEN(ZEBEZ—F: —F=HF)-
RIERR - NEBBETAI R 2 EX£HED
KEFLZAEMNRAT ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

29. OTHER BORROWING

The other borrowing of the Group is interest-bearing, secured and is
repayable in more than two years but not exceeding five years. Detail
of assets that have been pledged as collateral to secure the other
borrowing is disclosed in note 34.

30. OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$40,366,000
(2022: HK$32,164,000). The properties held had committed leases
mainly running for the next one to six years (2022: one to three years).
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments as lessor under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

2= —EF-=
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITRAEERERNRK Undiscounted fixed lease payments

FEWAERAT : receivables on leases are as follows:

R—FEZR Within one year 30,422 35,870
REZF In the second year 17,457 23,895
RE=ZF In the third year 7,596 8,191
REE In the fourth year 6,430 =
RERE In the fifth year 6,726 =
RAFE After five years 3,363 -

71,994 67,956
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FEeMBERERME () NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
31. BNEGA 31. CAPITAL COMMITMENT
—E—= — T
2023 2022
F#T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EEEYHE L RER Capital expenditure in respect of
BRI A HFEED contracted commitment for
=N improvement and alteration works of
an investment property 5,833 -

32. RIKEFIFE

AEEZERBRBESHRIN_"FZTTF+-A
iz g est 8l([RESFE ) - ZFFEZ
BERAEECEENHRTE - AEEESMHME

& o

EERAEEZRESHRAAERESAFH
Fe25% ' ERAS AMEBIKA Z30,000
BT (ZZ — —4 : 30,000/87T) °

REBEE-_TE=F+-_A=+—HBItEER ' K
EEE X 2B REF B A291,0007 7T
(ZZF=—4 : 291,000/87T) °

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme") established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the scheme is
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees.

Both employees' and the Group's mandatory contributions are
calculated at 5% of the employee's monthly relevant income, with the
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2022: HK$30,000).

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits scheme of HK$291,000
(2022: HK$291,000).
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REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year enaed 37st December; 2023
33. BAHE TR 5 K AEER 33. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES
RBE-Z-_=F+_-"A=+—HLEFEAN & During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group had
SERBEAEALTZRGRESRIT transactions and balances with related parties as follows:
(a) MWMLES : (@) Related party transactions:
—E-=%F T
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRERAR  BEEER Ultimate holding company, AGL and
HHB AR its subsidiaries
—AEERRNEREREEWA - Management fee income earned
by the Group 325 -
—MASEKRAHES — Rent, estate management and
MEEEREAER air-conditioning fees charged
to the Group 1,015 913
— [ B YER A B & 5T AR TS 2 — Internal audit service and management
EREMARIREER information system service fee
charged to the Group 320 303
— [N B ER ) E A B — Sundry expenses charged to the Group 545 244
—AEELEWE QW RE — Consideration received for disposals
of subsidiaries by the Group 250,000 -
HEEB 2z —MMEBAT — A subsidiary of AGL, SHK and
TS E R HK B QA its subsidiaries
— AR BEBRERA A 2 U A — Interest income earned by the Group 4,503 4,483
PR AR KL R Intermediate holding company, TACI,
B A and its subsidiaries
— RS BEBRER A A 2 U A — Interest income earned by the Group 725 1,666
—AEERRAEEREEWRA - Management fee income earned
by the Group 1,110 864
—AAREBE RN EIRREE - Management fee charged to the Group 1,200 1,650
— [ AR B Y ER ) E A B A — Sundry expenses charged to the Group 18 15
—AEELEWE QRN NRE — Consideration received for disposals

of subsidiaries by the Group 80,000 -
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33. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (continued)

(b) Key management personnel compensation

The remuneration of key management is determined by the

remuneration committee having regard to the performance of

individuals and market trends.

The remuneration paid and payable to the key management of the

Company, who are the Directors, for the year is set out in note 14.

(c) RBAEER (c) Related party balances
- = —F-—
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRERAR  BEEE R Ultimate holding company, AGL
HIfB A A and its subsidiaries
— E fth BT FRIE — Other payables
(BEFARZERNFIER (included in trade creditors and
FEET=EBR) (Mati) accrued operating expenses) (Note i) 284 198
el —MHE AR — A subsidiary of AGL, SHK
FBEREMB AR and its subsidiaries
— B E K - Loan receivable
(Bt ABMWE R (K1) (included in loan receivables) (Note i) 78,100 78,100
— E fth FE YR IE — Other receivable
(Bt AE A EWFRIE) (included in other receivables) 578 578
FREZERAR KL R Intermediate holding company, TACI
HM B AR and its subsidiaries
— B E - Loan receivable
(Bt NBIE ) (H atiii) (included in loan receivables) (Note iii) - 33,707
— E fth FEUGRIE — Other receivable
(BT AEMEUFRIE) (included in other receivables) - 3,781
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34. BEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

33. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(c) Related party balances (continued)

Except for the disposals of subsidiaries to a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of TACI, intermediate holding company and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL, ultimate holding company,
respectively, in July 2023, as disclosed in note 8, which are fully-
exempted under the Listing Rules, none of the above related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in the Listing Rules. The disclosure
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section
headed "Connected Transactions" of the Directors’ Report.

Notes:

(i) The other payables are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(ii) The loan receivable represents gross carrying amount which bears interest of
5.75% per annum, is unsecured, guaranteed, repayable in November 2024.

(ifi) The loan receivable bears interest of 4.75% per annum, is unsecured,
unguaranteed and was repaid in April 2023.

34. PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2023, a property mortgage over, an assignment
of rental income and sales proceeds and an assignment of
insurance in respect of an investment property with carrying value
of HK$1,270,000,000 was pledged as security in respect of the
drawdown of other borrowing by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balances. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
other borrowing disclosed in note 29, equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the repayment of other borrowing, payment of dividends and
repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

—EZ= —E_—
2023 2022
Fi#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
ERMEE Financial assets
BREREANEBEEREZ Financial assets at FVTPL
TREE 73,902 78,226
FREMEEREZ AL BERE Equity instrument at FVTOCI
ZERARTE 31,890 29,600
R AT E 2 B E Financial assets at amortised cost 221,413 327,657
327,205 435,483
SMER Financial liabilities
big: TicIn I s At amortised cost 630,357 21,968

(b) MBERBREZEAHERBE

AEBEZTIEZSRMTARKEBEBIERIEAREE
BREzZEREE BREMEENSERARE
BRIBZBATER X5 EGKIA - EH b FE WK
H-REER RekAeFE XZEAR
B HttENRIEREPES REMER
TR TEAFBRSWERE ZFeRTEEH
ZRBeEm SRR (IMNERE RFXER)
EREARLREERRE o TXHEHINARREZE
WZBI c AEEEREEREMEEZER
» AREGR BB B U IREUE B 2161 ©

i

iy
75

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets

at FVTPL, equity instrument at FVTOCI, trade receivables, other

receivables, loan receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade

creditors, other creditors and tenants deposits and other borrowing.

Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include market

risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group has trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade creditors that are denominated in foreign
currencies which are different from the functional currency of
the respective group entity and accordingly expose the Group to
currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in currency other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

"E afE

Assets Liabilities
—E-= T F —E-= —E-—F
2023 2022 2023 2022
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T USD 83,508 81,230 - -
ARE RMB 10 20 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group’s principal subsidiaries are operating in Hong Kong and
their transactions are mostly denominated and settled in HK$, USD
and RMB. As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Directors thus consider the
Group’s foreign currency exposure is not significant. To the extent
that the Group’s revenue and expenditure are not naturally matched in
the same currency and to the extent that there are timing differences
between receipt and payment, the Group will be exposed to foreign
currency exchange gains and losses arising from transactions in
currencies other than its functional currency.

The Group is exposed to the currency risk of RMB. The Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk due to RMB is considered not
significant to the Group and no sensitivity analysis is presented.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk related primarily to fixed-rate
loan receivables

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk as its cash
equivalents, loan receivables and other borrowing which are subject
to floating interest rate. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policy. However, the Group closely monitors
interest rate movements and will enter into new banking facilities
when favourable pricing opportunities arise. The management
monitors the Group’s interest exposure and will consider hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Other borrowing

If interest rates increased or decreased by 50 basis points in relation
to the Group’s variable rate borrowings and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit after tax would have decreased or
increased by HK$2,505,000.

Bank balances

The Group’s change in interest rate is mainly attributable to its bank
balances which is considered not significant to the Group and no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential losses result
from default on obligations by counterparties. The maximum exposure
to the Group is represented by the carrying amount of its financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables consists of rental and estate management fees
receivable from tenants. Credit checks are carried out before
commencement of tenancies and on-going credit evaluation ensures
any doubtful receivables are provided for as required. The exposure
to credit risk is limited because the trade receivables are secured
by tenants deposits. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. As at 31st December
2023, loss allowance of HK$678,000 (2022: HK$234,000) was
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Regarding the credit risk management policy on note receivables, the
Group assessments are based on the public subscription documents
and the public information published by its listed guarantors. For the
credit risk management policy on other loan receivables, the Group
negotiates the credit limits and terms of new grants and renewals of
loans receivable based on individual assessments of the background,
financial strength and collateral provided on the loans of each of the
borrowers. The credit limits and terms of the new grants or renewals
of loans receivables are approved by the directors of the lender
subsidiaries on case-by-case basis upon receiving referrals from
business partners or borrowing request from potential borrowers. As
at 31st December, 2023, there are in total 2 (2022: 2) outstanding
note receivables issued by listed or former listed entities in Hong
Kong and there are no debtors (2022: 2 debtors, comprising a private
company in Hong Kong and a related party in the PRC) of outstanding
other loan receivables.

In general, the borrowers are of a diverse background, comprising
individuals, private companies and subsidiaries of Hong Kong listed
companies. After being approached directly by the prospective
borrower or through referrals, the Group reviews the background
and financial strength of such borrower, and where applicable, the
guarantor, and obtain financial statements and search reports to
support its analysis. The Group then assesses the credit risk of the
loan and negotiate the terms thereof after considering, among other
things, (i) the background and financial strength of the borrower or
the guarantor (if applicable); (i) the value and marketability of the
collateral(s) provided, if any; and (iii) any other securities. Similarly,
the Group takes such criteria in the assessment of renewal of loans,
and an additional factor will be taken into account, being the historical
repayment record of the borrower.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The finance department of the Group is responsible for performing
credit quality review on a regular basis. Procedures which are
carried out by the responsible staff in order to identify any possible
changes in the creditworthiness of a borrower include (i) reviewing
the latest available audited financial statements or periodic unaudited
management accounts of the counterparties of the loans; (i) if
required under the expected credit loss model in impairment
assessment, engaging valuers to ascertain the updated recoverable
amount of the securities of the loans; (iii) conducting public searches
to confirm any changes to the corporate information and status of
the counterparties of the loans; and (iv) interviewing the borrowers
regularly. Such review enables the Group to assess the potential loss
as a result of the risk to which it is exposed and take appropriate
corrective actions.

The Group’s note receivables are kept in the security broker account
and the repayment of interests and principals of note receivables are
directly debited in the security broker account when due. For the
other loan receivables, the Group billed in advance by the debit notes
to the borrowers. The finance department is responsible for gathering
financial data on the repayment of loan receivables on a monthly
basis, and would promptly report to the directors of the lender
subsidiaries for any delay or default in repayment upon maturity.
Based on the assessment of and information provided by the finance
department, the directors of the lender subsidiaries will then re-assess
the recoverability of the loan receivables and formulate plans for loan
collection.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

In such assessment process, they may require additional documents
of the counterparties of the loans and/or request additional
securities for such loans. Furthermore, the internal audit function of
the Group periodically conducts reviews on the internal control of
lending activities and anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing, covering (i) approval procedures of granting loans; (ii) credit
assessment and background check of borrowers; (iii) monitoring
of loan repayment; and (iv) compliance with the relevant rules and
regulations. Such internal control measures, together with the
periodical internal control review and compliance checking over
all aspects of credit processes by the internal audit function of the
Group, helps to ensure the credit procedures are complied with and
sufficient controls are in place to mitigate credit risk.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loan receivables
are advanced to a few independent third parties and related parties.
As at 31st December, 2023, the loan receivables will be matured
in November 2024 (2022: November 2023 to November 2024).
Management had assessed the credit rating of the borrowers
for the unsecured loan receivables of HK$77,910,000 (2022:
secured and unsecured loan receivables of HK$154,729,000).
During the years ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022, there is a
default in repayment of note receivable with a principal amount of
HK$97,640,000 and the interest receivable of HK$3,417,000. All
other loans interest have been settled in accordance with agreement
terms during the years ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group assessed the loss allowances for remaining other
receivables with gross carrying amounts of HK$6,787,000 (2022:
HK$10,639,000) on 12m ECL basis. The expected loss of other
receivables are assessed individually, taking into account the
historical default experience and internal credit rating of the debtors
as well as forward-looking information, as appropriate. There had
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

In addition, the Group reassesses the lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and the 12m ECL for other financial assets at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition. In this regard, management of the
Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed credit risk
grading to categorise exposures according to the degree of risk of
default. The Group uses publicly available financial information and its
own historical repayment records, or, where appropriate, engages the
Valuer to rate its major customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit quality of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

7 & B 35 80 RO RE (48)

BE =1+ -A=1—HIFE

36. €T HEH &) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) MHEMEREERMRBRGR) (b)

15 5 B2 R st (H AT 1 (#8)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

AEBERBEERRTRTHEEATEA The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

MBS E TR
Internal
credit rating

i Fu

Description

5B RR
Trade debtors

Hth SREE
Other
financial assets

{ivEN T R SH R BIEERELIA THRBEHEEREE - 1218 AWEHIEE
R B EBEIR BRAC 8% BEERE B

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired

B BT A AR 5 2 HA R BR RIE 2 HTEEEEE - 12{8 A BRBEE
BRBEREHE A EEERE g

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
but usually settle in full — not credit-impaired

R B IRIER % E BN EB M DB F > HEREEEE - > HEREEEE -
EERER BN EEEREAE EEEREAE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources

&8 BEBRELEZEEZEEERE > HTEMEEEE - 2 HTEMEEEE -

EERE = ERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired

AT 8 BRIELZEBARRBEERNT R R Rk ks
K%@Iﬁﬂ%%%W@

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

RERE RAER

REs Gross BRI
EHITFE 12@P%2H carrying ECL
Internal FHEEEE amount provided

—EeE-= P& credit 12m or FHETT FHETT

2023 Notes rating lifetime ECL HK$°000 HK$°000

BRUESBRFIIECEMEE

Financial assets at amortised costs

JEWE K

Loan receivables

o REBEWEBRREN—EEERRZ fizEa, e 1K [\ 1218 A 725 78,100 190
—REME LR (F1EREIHE) EEE

e |Long-term note receivable from
a subsidiary of a major shareholder
due within one year

s BHRUEBREN-EBIFE=7

e Short-term note receivable from
an independent third party

Notes a, e Low risk 12m ECL

fizEDb, e, g EE 2 HEREEER 97,640 97,640
(FERE)
Notes b, e, g Loss Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

EEREERFEFG(E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
REm#EE AHEE
AR Gross 51518 i
EHITE 12@P%2H carrying ECL
Internal FHEEEE amount provided
—E-=E i credit 12m or Fi&iT FiET
2023 Notes rating lifetime ECL HK$°000 HK$°000
RESREIIEZERNEE
Financial assets at amortised costs
R SN HRIE 23 KR 2 HIEHIEEEE 4,362 -
Trade receivables Low risk Lifetime ECL
R SN HRIE 23 FER 2 HIEHIEEEE 2,539 678
Trade receivables Watch list  Lifetime ECL
H i fEURIE 23 KR 128 AFEHEEEE 6,787 2
Other receivables Low risk 12m ECL
H YR IE 23 B8 2 HIBHEEEE 3,417 3,417
(EERME)
Other receivables Loss Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
RITER 25 YN 128 AEMEEEE 130,478 =

Bank balances

ExtTotal

Low risk 12m ECL

323,323 101,927
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FEeMBERERME () NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
36. R T A () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HMBERBEERERBE(E) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
EEREERFEFG(E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
REAE BHEE
AIE Gross BiEEE
EETH  12@AZEH carrying ECL
Internal JEEEEEE amount provided
—E-—F Moz credit 12m or FHET FHETT
2022 Notes rating lifetime ECL HK$'000 HK$'000
BRESREIIEZEMNEE

Financial assets at amortised costs

FEW & X
Loan receivables
o RHEKEBREN—HEFrEREZ Kitka, e ERE 12 AE = EEE 78,100 76
— T B A A
e |Long-term note receivable from a Notes a, e Low risk 12m ECL

subsidiary of a major shareholder

s RHENEBREN—EBLE=H ffiEb, e, g iR 2 HEREEER 97,640 97,640
(EERE)
e Short-term note receivable from an Notes b, e, g Loss Lifetime ECL
independent third party (credit-impaired)
s RHERT-HRRHBAR BifzEc, f v 12{E A FEAEEHE 33,707 -

e Short-term loan to a fellow subsidiary Notes c, f Low risk 12m ECL

s BHERTEBYE=R ffitd, e v 12{8 AR HEEEE 45,000 2,002
e Short-term loan to an independent third Notes d, e Low risk 12m ECL
party
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FEeMBERERME () NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
HE_—_ T =+ —_H=+—HIFE for the year ended 37st December; 2023
36. R T A () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HMBERBEERERBE(E) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
EEREERFEFG(E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
REAE BHEE
AIE Gross BiEEE
EETH  12@AZEH carrying ECL
Internal FEHEEEE amount provided
—E-—F M5 credit 12m or FHET FHETT
2022 Notes rating lifetime ECL HK$000 HK$'000
BREBREIIEZEMNEE

Financial assets at amortised costs

R 5 WA 23 KR ZHEHEEEE 13,332 -

Trade receivables Low risk Lifetime ECL

R 5 WA 23 FER 2 HEHEEEE 1,526 234

Trade receivables Watch list  Lifetime ECL

H i JEURIE 23 KR 12{8 A A EE1E 10,639 3

Other receivables Low risk 12m ECL

H At FEURIE 23 B8 ZHEHREEBE(E 3,417 3,417
ERE)

Other receivables Loss Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)

RITER 25 YN 128 AEMEEEE 147,651 =
Bank balances Low risk 12m ECL

45t Total 431,012 103,372
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(b) HMBERBEERERBE(E)

SERERBEFG(HE)

HieE -

(@ HEWEEAEERR  VTHEAEE —HWEB
AR FREMERER o

b) ZEVBEAERAZHBRRNSETRNDIE
B WH—BAEAAZRERERAER -

() ZHERSEKIPFMEERY -

d) ZEFUERAREEERANE=ELZE
ERZEHRFRBEBZERAZRESE ME
REEFEERRA—BEABERIERERA °

() AEEEZFTBIUNINDEREAZHREHETE
HEEBE G - EHREEBBREIINGER
AR AR B E AT ARSRNELNREX
FMIE LN EBEITE - WIRE T BATEER
RETHE -

() ZHRENEHEEBEBRTEHEEERT - &
FEHE BB B R IE N0 E B A A48 A A9 A8
BEATRERNENBMEMENEIBETT
&+ WARIR AT A RTIE M A RHETT AR o

(@ HBHEZZE-_=RZT_—_F+ZA=+—HIL

FE - ZHBECTRRE

R-ZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H8 FEALEYD

2,539,000 L (=& ==

1,526,000/ 7T ) K

B AEEBIFEE - AZEERAHTRER
#678,000/ T (=T = =4 : 234,000/7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The note receivable is unsecured and guaranteed by a subsidiary of AGL,
SHK.

The note receivable is secured by certain shares of the borrower’s
subsidiaries and an individual personal guarantor.

The loan is unsecured and unguaranteed.

The loan is secured under a debenture incorporating second fixed and
floating charge over its undertaking, property and assets of the borrower and
guaranteed by an individual personal guarantor.

The Group engaged independent external expert to perform ECL assessment
on the balances. The ECL is assessed by reference to the probability of
default and loss given default for the relevant credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies, and adjusted for forward-looking factors
that are available.

The ECL assessment on the balances is performed by the management.
The ECL is assessed by reference to the probability of default and loss given
default for the relevant credit rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies, and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available.

For the years ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the balance is fully
impaired.

Some trade debtors with an gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,539,000 as at 31st December, 2023 (2022: HK$1,526,000)
were assessed individually and an impairment allowance of
HK$678,000 (2022: HK$234,000) were made on these debtors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has
been recognised for loan receivables and related other receivables.

2R
12 A RH BEHBR
BEHEER (B ERi(E) it
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
FAET FA&T FHAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R-_ZBE_—_F—H—H As at 1st January, 2022 1,937 77,906 79,843
RENERRASRIAESE Changes due to financial instruments

Z & recognised during the year:

— B REERE — Impairment losses recognised 144 22,547 22,691
bE 5, AL Exchange adjustment 1 603 604
RZBE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H As at 31st December, 2022 2,082 101,056 103,138
REANRERe TAES Changes due to financial instruments

ZEF) : recognised during the year:

— B ERREREE — Impairment losses recognised 116 = 116

— BB EIREREE — Impairment losses reversed (2,005) - (2,005)
R-ZE-_=F+=-F=+—H As at 31st December, 2023 193 101,056 101,249
B R Liquidity risk

EEERSERRE  AEBERERERRE R
RELEEEEERRBBHNKY  RAKEZ
LERNESRRERESRIDITE - BEEE
ERHEMERNERIBTR - WHERETERE

Eo
A °

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s operation and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of other borrowings and ensure compliance with repayment
terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities (including trade creditors, other creditors,
tenants deposits and other borrowing). The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for the financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived based on management’s best
estimates at the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interest rate curve, if available.

LH90R NHEIF 16255 5%k st
On demand
or less than 91 days to 1 year to Over
90 days 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
THT THL TAT TAT THT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZB-=%+-F=+—H At 31st December, 2023
H A {0 Other borrowing 8,975 27,123 662,532 = 698,630
RS ENFRE Trade creditors 474 - - = 474
H A 3R Other creditors 14,489 = = - 14,489
P& Tenants deposits 15,394 - - - 15,394
B Total 39,332 27,123 662,532 - 728,987
R-ZB--f#+=-F=+—H At 31st December, 2022
RS EMTA Trade creditors 1,640 - - - 1,640
H e 508 Other creditors 5,951 - - - 5,951
BEEE Tenants deposits 14,377 - = - 14,377
B Total 21,968 - - - 21,968
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2023

—E-=
2023
B—H B’ B=HR #et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EBRBEREA A BERE 2  Financial assets at FVTPL
TREE - 30,924 42,978 73,902
FREMEEBREAR Equity instrument at FVTOCI
EBEREZRATA - - 31,890 31,890
RoEBE-——F+-_A=+—HZ22AREBAEKZ Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2022
—F_—
2022
F—H E-R F=H 5T
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRBREARBERE Financial assets at FVTPL
L EREE = 35,147 43,079 78,226
BREMEAMBSEAR Equity instrument at FVTOCI
BEEREZRATA = = 29,600 29,600

RAFEAN  WREE—H - B_R/RE=H2
FEﬁZEEﬁé‘ °

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of

these financial assets and liabilities are determined (in particular, the

valuation techniques and inputs used.)

Fair value as at
31st December,
oS -5--
2023 022 SARERN FEFEREIESH EERLRREY EtRRSBELARECRRE
SNEE FET FEL Fair value  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Financial assets HK$'000 HK$'000 hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
AERRDAEERR, SR 30,924 35,147 228 CREBREZHE 0l NER
BEJFLTESRE Level 2 Quoted price provided by financial ~ N/A N/A
Unlisted fund investment institutions
classified as financial
assets at FVTPL
AERRDAEERRE, SR 42,978 43,079 2=8  cREBREZHE HAERE AR NER
BEZLhESRE leveld  RICHBMRERZEERKA N/A N/A
Unlisted fund investment BZIR

classified as financial
assets at FVTPL

Quoted price provided by financial
institutions which considered net
asset values of special purpose
vehicles derived from underlying
investments
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

36. R T A ) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) @MIAZARBEE(E) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
TZR=t-HACAREE
Fair value as at
31st December,
- o St 3
2023 2022 NARERY HFEFEREESH EEREBRIY BERRSRALARECRE
SREE FET FAT Fair value  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Financial assets HK$'000 HK$'000 hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
ARAEBAMZENE 31,890 29,600 £ZR  EEERE RRGER(ZRATLENZRSE RAKEZMENEERAARET
BARBEREL Level 3 Asset-based approach. EIRBRERE TUROESUA [Bo
BRAT Rz Emira METEMEENNEE) B275%
% IE295: F35% (2% 275%F

Unlisted equity securities
classified as equity
instrument at FVTOCI

The key inputs are:

() EEhEE:
(i) Term yield;

) Gk :

(i) Reversionary yield;

fii) THEMRS : &
(i) Market nit rent; and

(V) B BT AR R CTNE
(1v) Discount for lack of control and
lack of marketability

3.25%) °

Term yield, taking into account of
yield generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to
reflect the certainty of term income
secured and to be received, of
2.75% 10 3.25% (2022: 2.75% to
3.25%).

RENARE(ZRITHRNZNE
BEmZASRARENTE) R
3.25%23.75%(ZE-ZF : 3.25%
F3.75%) o

Reversionary yield, taking into
account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties, of 3.25% to
3.75% (2022: 3.25% to 3.75%).

The increase in the term yield
would result in a decrease in fair
value.

The increase in the reversionary
yield would result in a decrease in
fair value.
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REMBHREMEE) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BE T _=F+-A=1—HIFE for the year ended 37st December;, 2023
36. R T A () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) @MIAZARBEHEE(E) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
TZAZ+-RZAARE
Fair value as at
31st December,
- o “EooF
2023 2022 NARERY HFEFEREIESH EEREBRIY BERRSRALARECRE
SREE FET F#7r  Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Financial assets HK$'000 HK$'000 hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value

mHENRSBEETRALANE THELESHENESHARER
LR DEZRIMEALLENE £

ZWERLER  WEAMIRS -

TInRELRENTASTARE

R5ETERTAREA18ET(Z

2oE GYIRBALETER

THRGRIT0ET) «

Market unit rent compares with  The increase in the market unit rent
direct market comparables and  would result in an increase in fair
taking into account of location value.

and other individual factors such

as road frontage, size of property

and facilities. The range of average

market unit rent is from around

HK$25 sq.ft./month to HK$185

sq.ft./month (2022: HK$25 sq.ft./

month to HK$170 so.ft./month).

REAHRTEREANE (R RZEHNTSRE INEENE
PAREIERE) B248%(Z 52 ERAREETR:

£ :305%) °

Discount for lack of control and lack  The increase in the discount
of marketability, taking into account  for lack of control and lack of
median control premium, of 24.3 % marketability would result in a
(2022: 30.5%). decrease in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial

assets

PREEB

SEE Hthz2Eka

BAREE BRAREE

BEZ&F BEZEF

BEZELT IRZELESH

BEER BFESF

Unlisted Unlisted

fund equity

investment securities

classified classified

as financial as equity
assets at instrument at bk
FVTPL FVTOCI Total
FET FET FEIL
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R-_ZBE_—_F—H—H As at 1st January, 2022 43,116 32,660 75,776
MRS 2 BEE Total loss in profit or loss (37) - (37)

REME MRS Z 2 EE Total loss in other comprehensive
income - (8,060) (3,060)
R-TE-_—_F+=-A=+—H As at 31st December, 2022 43,079 29,600 72,679
W& 2 BEE Total loss in profit or loss (101) - (101)
REM 2K E 2 B Total gain in other comprehensive

income = 2,290 2,290
R-ZE-_=F+=-F=+—H As at 31st December, 2023 42,978 31,890 74,868

BBBR) W= (ZZ=_F: FBR)RFLTE
SREMIF EMEEER SN QA BERSERE
B 2RFAEERRE AR EEREZ SR
BEFRL IMEEEMEMKERA R EER
BYRATENAABEEZY] -

EERARBER AT NG AP B RRF A
SREERSMEEVETERLAL BEAK

EE A

The total (loss) gain (2022: loss) represent the unrealised fair value
gain or loss on unlisted fund investment and unlisted equity securities
and are included in “net decrease in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL” and “change in fair value of equity instrument at FVTOCI”
respectively.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activity, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activity are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activity.

BEEHEM
EfRIERN
HREMAFIR
Interest
payables
included Hth &=
in other Other fast
creditors borrowing Total
FAET FA&T FHAET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R-EBE-_—F—HF—HEK At 1st January, 2022 and
B F+ZHA=t+—H 31st December, 2022 = = -
B Interest expense 18,211 - 18,211
FREE Non-cash changes
— HEMER(H£38) — other borrowing (note 38) - 600,000 600,000
AR LR Financing cash flows (15,292) = (15,292)
KRB =F+_-_F=+—H At 31st December, 2023 2,919 600,000 602,919

38. FEIHERSH

HE—_T_=F+-"A=t+—HItFEE D&%
600,000,000/ 7T /) E fib fg 3%+ LASZ (S UREE BT /8
/2 7]1,000,000,00378 ST HIZB 0 S FRAREE ©

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, other borrowing of
HK$600,000,000 was raised to satisfy part of the total payment on
acquisition of a subsidiary of HK$1,000,000,003.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(@) Company’s Statement of Financial Position

—EZZ=HF =2
2023 2022
F#T FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
M - BE R Property, plant and equipment 160 271
R B AR ZIEE Investments in subsidiaries 17,777 16,875
FEU KT B A R BR X Amounts due from subsidiaries 626,008 553,009
(EES=i-pes Club memberships 4,261 4,261
648,206 574,416
) Current assets
FEMBRIR « 2E R EH M EUWZIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 940 850
BekReEE Cash and cash equivalents 81,681 130,919
82,621 131,769
mERE Current liabilities
FE I 5RIE R FEET & A Creditors and accruals 5,167 5,011
TS H Income tax payable 420 489
FERTHI B A RIBR K Amounts due to subsidiaries 31,167 16,946
36,754 22,446
mENEERE Net current assets 45,867 109,323
HEERRDAR Total assets less current liabilities 694,073 683,739
% 98- ] Capital and reserve
RS Share capital 681,899 681,899
s Reserve 12,174 1,840
Eg=tt Total equity 694,073 683,739

AARFBMRARERZZZWFE=A = +HL The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
EZeRBREETIE  YHTINESAEKES authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20th March, 2024
and are signed on its behalf by:

=2
ERE BRh
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
BEF BEF

Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

) 39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserve

REEF

Retained

profits

FAET

HK$’000

R—_Z-_—F—F—H At 1st January, 2022 18,719
AEELME LR Total comprehensive expenses for the year (16,879)
R-BE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2022 1,840
AEE 2 EWEBRE Total comprehensive income for the year 10,334
R-E_=F+-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 12,174

HEZZ-=F+-"A=+—H KAFAHDIE The Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners of the
FARRARBEA AZHEERRSBHEF12,174,000 Company as at 31st December, 2023 are represented by retained

BT (ZEZ 4 : 1,840,000/ 7T) °

profits of HK$12,174,000 (2022: HK$1,840,000).



164

REMBHREMEE)
e - f=+—HIFE

40. = BB AT MBS N BB
MREBMBEN  RARR T _=FR T -
E+ A=+ BEFBLEZETENBAR
(=N

(a) EZMELR

Asiasec Properties Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st December,
2023 and 2022, which operate in Hong Kong except otherwise

indicated, are as follows:

(@) Principal subsidiaries

FisREE AL
HR /R BRTKS SRRALE Percentage of attributable equity directly
Place of Particular of HALFAERRR s5ERE
4R Incorporation/ issued share capital/ held by the held by the IEEE
Name establishment paid up registered capital Company Group Principal activities
ZBCCE “B--F IZBIZE "E-CF
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % % %
IAREERAR B RERR /1T - - 100 100 #giks
Asia Empire Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordlinary share/HK$1 Property investment
FERARAR B 1REER /AT 100 100 100 100 AERZMEARREERRE
Asiasec Administration Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordinary share/HKS1 Provision of management services
to ts fellow subsidiaries
GRUBERLT & 1,0008:%38f%,/10,000% 7 100 100 100 100 BERE
AsiaSec Finance Limited Hong Kong 1,000 Ordlinary shares/HK$10,000 Financing
TRNEEERRAR B 300000k £ AR/ - = 100 100 #xER
AsiaSec Property Management Limited ~ Hong Kong 300,007 Property management
300,000 Ordinary shares/
HK$300,000
kaREBRAR B RERR /1T - - 100 100 #gks
Asiawell Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordlinary share/HK$1 Property investment
BEREERAR B RERR/ 28T - - 100 - DERE
Boost Investments Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HK$2 Property investment
BERERRAR B RERR/ 28T - - - 100 ke

Citigrand Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordinary shares/HKS2 Property investment
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year enaed 37st December, 2025

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@) Principal subsidiaries (continued)

ERTRS /MERFEE
Particular of

issued share capital/
paid up registered capital

FrisREER
Percentage of attributable equity directly
BENEEERT E¥ 1k
held by the held by the FEEE
Company Group Principal activities
Z§CZE CE-CF IBIZE CEC
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % % %

Creative Essence Investments Limited

FHE (R E) ERAR
Dan Form (Ching) Limited

ERMFERARAR

Diamond Property Management Company

Limited

FREERRAR
Gold Asia Investment Limited

BRERAA
Harcape Limited

HERAERAR

Keen Safe Investment Limited

Kirshman Limited

EEARES
British Virgin Islands

&b
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

1RERR /1%
1 Ordinary share/USD1

kLR 28T
2 Ordinary shares/HK$2

1,0005 %8 /10,0007
1,000 Ordlinary shares/HK$10,000

REAR /18
1 Ordinary share/HKS$1

10,0008 £33, /10,0003
10,000 Orcinary shares/HK$10,000

1,010000% & BR,/
1,010,007

1,010,000 Ordinary shares/
HK$1,010,000

RERR/ 2B
2 Ordinary shares/HK$2

100 100 100 100 HEZR
Investment holding

100 100 100 100 REER

Investment holding
- - 100 100 #%EE
Property management
- = 100 100 9ERE
Property investment
- = 100 100  9ERE
Property investment
- = 100 100 #®EER
Investment holding
100 100 100 100 #REZR
Investment holding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Jor the year ended 57st December, 2023

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@) Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Pt RER AL

B /R BRARE SERELH Percentage of attributable equity directly

Place of Particular of HELFARRRE Lx LB
&% Incorporation/ issued share capital/ held by the held by the IEEE
Name establishment paid up registered capital Company Group Principal activities

Z§CZE CE-CF IBIZE CEC
2028 2022 2023 2022
% % % %

ERENERAA ABERER 1REBR /1% - - - 100 #5%E
Man Lee Offshore Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
REREERAR ERARHS 1RERR/ 1% - - - 100 s
Qriental Dragon Investment Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
AELRERAT &k RERR/ 25T - = - 100 #M%%E
Top Power Development Limited Hong Kong 2 Ordlinary shares/HKS2 Property investment
ARRERRAT B 1RERR /1L - - 100 100 hERE
Wide Asia Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 Ordlinary share/HK$1 Property investment
KBRS ERRA ARERER 1RERR/1%T - = - 100 #xkE
Winshine Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 1 Ordinary share/USD1 Property investment
R EEARBRRA A Note) i 2,150,000%TC - - - 100 #HERE

PRC USD2,150,000 Property investment

Wit ZAR R EBERE -
ERIBTEERRIBXEAER CXERE

ENNBATR - EFRRREMHEMHBA RN

BEARFEIDREMBRARETEMNERZES °

Note: The company is wholly-foreign owned enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b) Associate

FEEZRET

EEf, RS i

Principal place
of operation and

Fr{GBRET L

Percentage of
attributable equity directly

place of
ZiB incorporation/ XKERHE TEES
Name establishment held by the Group Principal activity
=== —==-=
2023 2022
0/0 %

R EHEREERA A A (Hiax) (Ket) BE
Beijing Jingyuan Property PRC (Note) (Note) In liquidation

Development Co., Ltd.

Aret - AL RBUEEHERE AR A RN EMFNES

41. EBHRBEIE

REBE_ZE_=F+_A=1+—HIFRFER
BREEAFRBE  WRABLEFEREEN
EEEE

Note: Beijing Jingyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. is in liquidation during both

years.

41. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING

PERIOD

There are no important events affecting the Group which have
occurred after the end of the reporting financial year ended 31st

December, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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SEPMESEHEE SUMMARY OF THE GROUP’S
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ZE-=HF —E-C —E-—F —T-TF —E-hEF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
FET FET FAT FAT FET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
WA Revenue 46,884 38,379 38,166 51,251 55,944
T (&) Operating profit (loss) 269,107 (44,286) (1,563,826) 15,242 52,704
i NG| Share of (loss) profit of
(B8 &7 associates - - (907) (69,029) 8,967
Bt anE A (EiE) Profit (loss) before taxation 269,107 (44,286) (1,564,733) (53,787) 61,671
FE® (1) |30 Income tax (expense) credit (4,108) 585 1,681 (2,863) (3,657)
REERF (B Profit (loss) for the year 264,999 (43,701)  (1,563,052) (56,650) 58,014
BER : Attributable to:
YT Equity holders 264,999 (43,701) (1,563,052) (56,650) 58,014
Efl A bal] B BN
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
SRERN(EE) Earnings (loss) per share 21.36 (3.52) (125.98) (4.57) 4.67
HWEE Total assets 2,603,968 1,741,114 1,791,326 4,544,502 4,658,964
“wafE Total liabilities (781,217) (187,009) (185,905) (198,583) (222,375)
BESE Net assets 1,822,751 1,654,105 1,605,421 4,345,919 4,436,589
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